PROCEEDINGSISSN Print: 2518-4245SSN Online: 2518-4253Vol. 60(1), March 2023OF THE PAKISTAN ACADEMY OF SCIENCES:A. Physical and Computational Sciences



PAKISTAN ACADEMY OF SCIENCES ISLAMABAD, PAKISTAN

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: Part A Physical and Computational Sciences

Khan

President:	Khalid Mahmood
Secretary General:	Tasawar Hayat
Treasurer:	Amin Badshah

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences A. Physical and Computational Sciences is the official flagship, the peer-reviewed quarterly journal of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences. This open-access journal publishes original research articles and reviews on current advances in the field of Computer Science (all), Materials Science (all), Physics and Astronomy (all), Engineering Sciences (all), Chemistry, Statistics, Mathematics, Geography, Geology in English. Authors are not required to be Fellows or Members of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences or citizens of Pakistan. The journal is covered by Print and Online ISSN, indexed in Scopus, and distributed to scientific organizations, institutes and universities throughout the country, by subscription and on an exchange basis.

Editor:

Riffat Mahmood Qureshi, Pakistan Academy of Sciences, Islamabad, Pakistan; editor@paspk.org

Managing Editor:

Ali Ahsan, Pakistan Academy of Sciences, Islamabad, Pakistan; editor@paspk.org

Discipline Editors:

Chemical Sciences: Guo-Xin Jin, Inorganic Chemistry Institute, Fudan University, Shanghai, China

Chemical Sciences: Haq Nawaz Bhatti, Department of Chemistry University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan

Geology: Peng Cui, Key Laboratory for Mountain Hazards and Earth Surface Process, CAS, Institute of Mountain Hazards & Environment, CAS Chengdu, Sichuan, People's Republic of China

Computer Sciences: Sharifullah Khan, Faculty of Electrical, Computer, IT & Design(FECID), Pak-Austria Fachhochschule: Institute of Applied Sciences and Technology (PAF-IAST), Mange, Haripur, Pakistan

Engineering Sciences: Akhlesh Lakhtakia, Evan Pugh University Professor and The Charles G. Binder (Endowed), Engineering Science and Mechanics, Pennsylvania State University, University Park, USA

Mathematical Sciences: Ismat Beg, Department of Mathematics and Statistical Sciences, Lahore School of Economics, Lahore, Pakistan Mathematical Sciences: Jinde Cao, Department of Mathematics, Southeast University Nanjing, P. R. China

Physical Sciences: Asghari Maqsood, Department of Physics, E-9, PAF Complex Air University, Islamabad

Physical Sciences: Niemela J. Joseph, The Abdus Salam International Center for Theoretical Physics (ICTP-UNESCO), Trieste- Italy

Editorial Advisory Board:

Saeid Abbasbandy, Department of Mathematics, Imam Khomeini International University Ghazvin, 34149-16818, Iran Muazzam Ali Khan Khattak, Department of Computer Science, Quaid-i-Azam University, Islamabad, Pakistan

Muhammad Sharif, Department of Mathematics, University of the Punjab, Lahore, Pakistan

Faiz Ullah Shah, Department of Civil, Environmental and Natural Resources Engineering, Lulea University of Technology, Luleå, Sweden
 Kashif Nisar, Faculty of Computing and Informatics University Malaysia Sabah Jalan UMS, Kota Kinabalu Sabah, Malaysia
 Guoqian Chen, Laboratory of Systems Ecology and Sustainability Science, College of Engineering, Peking University, Beijing, China

Bhagwan Das, Department of Electronic Engineering, Quaid-e-Awam University of Engineering, Science and Technology Nawabshah, Sindh, Pakistan

Muhammad Sadiq Ali Khan, Department of Computer Science, University of Karachi, Pakistan

 Annual Subscription:
 Pakistan: Institutions, Rupees 4000/-; Individuals, Rupees 2000/- (Delivery Charges: Rupees 150/-)

 Other Countries:
 US\$ 200.00 (includes air-lifted overseas delivery)

© Pakistan Academy of Sciences. Reproduction of paper abstracts is permitted provided the source is acknowledged. Permission to reproduce any other material may be obtained in writing from the Editor.

The data and opinions published in the *Proceedings* are of the author(s) only. The *Pakistan Academy of Sciences* and the *Editors* accept no responsibility whatsoever in this regard.

HEC Recognized, Category Y; Scopus Indexed

Published by Pakistan Academy of Sciences, 3 Constitution Avenue, G-5/2, Islamabad, Pakistan Email: editor@paspk.org; Tel: 92-51-920 7140 & 921 5478; Websites: www.paspk.org/proceedings/; www.ppaspk.org

Printed at Graphics Point., Office 3-A, Wasal Plaza, Fazal-e-Haq Road Blue Area Islamabad. Ph: 051-2806257, E-mail: graphicspoint16@gmail.com



Page

CONTENTS

Volume 60, No. 1, March 2023

Review Article

Adaptation of Outcome-Based Education System in Pakistan for Engineering Disciplines and its Critical Evaluation	1
— Farhan Haider, Afshan Ahmed Siddiqui, and Syed Murtaza Ali	
Research Articles	
Spectral Variability of the Symbiotic Star CH Cyg — Mikailov Khidir Mustafa, Mammadov Ruslan Tavakkul, Rustamov Bayram Nizam, and Rustamova Aysel Bayram	9
Temperature-Properties Relationships of Martensitic Stainless Steel for Improved Utilization in Surgical Tools — Ibrar Ahmed, Badar-ud-Din Soomro, Muhammad Irfan, Noor Faraz Khan, Muhammad Bilal Afzal, Junaid Israr, Ambreen Saddozai, and Muhammad Yousif	15
Modeling and Robust Fractional Order Fuzzy Sliding Mode Two Time Scale Controller Design for Synchronous Generator of ACP1000 Nuclear Power Plant in LabVIEW — Arshad Habib Malik, Feroza Arshad, and Aftab Ahmad Memon	23
 An Efficient Class of Repeated Measurements Designs to Control the Residual Effects Using Periods of Three Different Sizes Javid Shabbir, Hafiz Muhammad Kashif Rasheed, Khadija Noreen, Abid Khan, Muhammad Adnan Ghani, and Rashid Ahmed 	31
Strengthening Pedestrian Safety: An Evaluation of Signals at Major Intersections in Lahore, Pakistan — Hina Saleemi, Zia ur Rehman, Saadia Tabassum, Ammad Hassan Khan, and Abdur Rahim	39
 Exploring the Complexities of Urbanization and Socio-Ecological Challenges in the High Mountainous Region of Chitral, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (KPK), Pakistan — Shahab Uddin, Anila Kausar, Sheeba Afsar, Ambreen Afzal, Altaf Hussain Lahori, Olena Stepova, Muhammad Mushahid Anwar, and Viktor Bredun 	47
Instructions for Authors	

Submission of Manuscripts: Manuscripts may be submitted as an e-mail attachment at editor@paspk.org or submit online at http://ppaspk.org/index.php/PPASA/about/submissions. Authors must consult the *Instructions for Authors* at the end of this issue or at the Website: www.paspk.org/proceedings/ or www.ppaspk.org.

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: A Physical and Computational Sciences 60(1): 1-7 (2023) Copyright © Pakistan Academy of Sciences ISSN (Print): 2518-4245; ISSN (Online): 2518-4253 https://doi.org/10.53560/PPASA(60-1)773



Review Article

Adaptation of Outcome-Based Education System in Pakistan for Engineering Disciplines and its Critical Evaluation

Farhan Haider*, Afshan Ahmed Siddiqui, and Syed Murtaza Ali

Department of Civil Engineering, Sir Syed University of Engineering & Technology, Karachi, Pakistan

Abstract: Pakistan has become a part of the Washington Accord in 2017 and started making reforms in its education sector. Outcome-Based Education (OBE) has been emphasized by Pakistan Engineering Council (PEC) for the accreditation of all engineering degree programs. This paper presents some basic literature on the existing educational models in the world and the Outcome Based Education-OBE structure that has been implemented in Pakistan yet. Pakistan has successfully designed the Program Education Objectives (PEOs) and Program Learning Objectives (PLOs) for the academic sector. PEOs are the mission/vision statements that define the career and professional goals which the program is preparing students to achieve. PLOs are the quantifiable statements that define the knowledge and skills expertise of the students upon graduation ceremony. A survey has been conducted by employers to assess the skill level of fresh graduates against 12 PLOs of the OBE system in Pakistan. Of these, the PLOs related to four measurable statements namely: (i) Problem Analysis, (ii) Design of Solutions, (iii) Investigation, and (iv) Environment & Sustainability are found underperformance as surveyed from the industry sector following the performance of freshly graduated students. The survey also includes the Key Performance Indicator (KPI) evaluation of faculty members both from the department heads and the students too. This result shows underperformance of 15 % of the teaching faculty as per prescribed grading ranges. However, the OBE faces some difficulties as well and unfortunately, there are not so many graduates who entered into the industry after learning from OBE. It will, therefore, take some time to deliver the results of OBE implementation in Pakistan. Furthermore, some other education reforms from around the globe have been presented in this paper and some suggestions have been provided.

Keywords: Outcome Based Education, Pakistan's Educational Reforms, Program Education Objectives, Program Learning Objectives.

1. INTRODUCTION TO EDUCATIONAL MODELS

Education is typically a dimension that deals with the method of teaching and learning environment in schools. It is a continuous process of facilitating, learning, acquisition of knowledge, wisdom, skills, morals, belief, habits, and personality grooming. On the whole, education plays a vital role in the development and polishing of a society and a community. It is believed that economic growth is directly related to the education infrastructure in a positive direction [1].

UNICEF is providing facilities for learning and skill development in 147 countries across the globe with the objective of quality, learning skills, equality to all, and emergency and fragile context [2]. In different parts of the world, countries have adopted and developed techniques for learning and teaching environments, and day by day these systems have been in a continuous process of making reforms in their design. Globally, there are seven (7) models designed for education and academic institutions. These models include Science Technology Engineering Mathematics (STEM), Project Based Learning, Inquiry Based Learning, Interdisciplinary Collaborative Learning, Neuroscience, Place-Based Education, and Multiage Learning models [3]. The Model STEM uses four basic and strong tools of life altogether by creating a meta-discipline. It encourages

Received: January 2023; Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding author: Farhan Haider <fhaider@ssuet.edu.pk>

Haider et al

students in a curriculum that is driven by problemsolving, discovery, and exploratory learning and thus developing a thought-provoking habit [4]. The Project-Based Learning model of education provides students with small tasks in a welldesigned process of problem solutions, inquiry, and clear objectives. The projects are usually assigned to the students in several groups for their learning [5]. The Inquiry-Based Learning model of education is a learning process involving the interest, curiosity, and perspective of students. The Interdisciplinary Collaborative Learning model is an education model that uses some recreational environment by uniting all the academic disciplines of medicine, science, arts, and humanities. It involves some common subjects between the two groups. The Neuroscience is an education model that typically involves the use of one's intellectual capacity by some research methodology. It is also commonly termed as mind and brain educational technique [6]. The Place-Based Education model offers interaction of local community and surrounding environment with the learner and this typically involves excursions and field visits. Multiage learning is a system where students are not separated by their grades and it uses some flexible groups where students can be taught together without distinguishing by their grades. These multi-age groups are created on the basis of pedagogical choices of school or learning program [7].

2. OUTCOME-BASED EDUCATION (OBE)

In 1989, an international proposal has been suggested for undergraduate studies of professional engineering degrees and this is termed as Washington Accord [8]. This agreement has to be signed between the regulating body and the academia of countries. It resulted in the proposal of different reforms in education and among these, the Outcome-Based Education (OBE) is one. The OBE system offers an educational reform that works on a very clear concept of what students are supposed to know and are potentially able to do [9]. It is often termed as Performance Based Education in some parts of USA where the student's learning outcome constitutes the whole academic environment including teaching method and materials, grading and assessment techniques, and recreational activities.

The Education Commission of the USA traces this reform back to the 1930s with a study involving 300 colleges and 30 high schools. The participant institutes have redesigned their academic model following the need and interests of their students and their graduates have been found more successful compared to the traditional academies [9]. It was the first time that learning and teaching are linked directly and teaching effectiveness had been associated with the learning outcome of students. The outcome must be a measurable unit and should have some deliverable activity. The assessment criteria may vary in different institutes but it must reflect an outcome of the student's strengths or weaknesses. It can be achieved by making a rubric within a subject or maybe in terms of levels like beginner, basic, expert, etc. [10]. Asim et al. [11] have identified some factors influencing the design of the infrastructure of OBE in developing countries including Pakistan. He found Learning objectives, Assessment methods, Learning styles, English language competency, and Employer graduate requirements as the primary factors to be considered in OBE. Katawazai [12] has researched the implementation of OBE in Afghanistan and pointed out the difficulties there. He claimed that content-based curriculum, policies of teaching, learning, and assessment, lack of facilities, and teachers' workload are the key hindrances in adopting the OBE system in Afghanistan.

3. OTHER EDUCATIONAL REFORMS IN THE WORLD

Several countries including Australia, Malaysia, South Africa, and the majority of the European Union had adopted OBE in the past but soon removed this theory from their education infrastructure and worked on alternative reforms. The reasons for detracting from OBE are lack of evidence of its success, overburden for staff and students, dissatisfaction with the testing and assessment approach, and to some extent the admission requirements for the degree program. Thus, instead of OBE, some other reforms in the education infrastructure were made and the two most famous models namely, Competency-Based Education (CBE) and Work Based Learning (WBL) were used. These two theories are found as successful as OBE and are discussed as follows:

3.1 Competency-Based Education (CBE)

Competency-based education (CBE) is a studentcentered education theory that focuses on the learning outcomes considering the interest and needs of the learner [13]. It involves the process of self-learning plans in parallel to the scheduled classes to bring out the mastery of a student's competencies. A competency can be defined as a package of knowledge, attitude, and skills and this is somewhat similar to vocational training. The basic attribute is to understand how a learner can learn the skill and performance, and much more important is to identify a competency for a student and work on its fine-tuning [14]. CBE provides students the chance to use their past experiences, skills, and knowledge to complete a course, get a degree, and/or participate in training to fulfill their goals [13].

3.2 Work-Based Learning (WBL)

Work-based learning is an educational reform that provides a student with real-life work experience from the industries. European Union in the majority is working on the WBL system and has made it mandatory to gain professional experience parallel with studies in the form of work student, internships, and part-time experiences. WBL deliberately combines theory with practice and acknowledges the intersection of clear explicit and tacit forms of knowing [15]. It has a benefit of a strong liaison between academia and industry [16], the generation of a more practical skilled pool of future employees, student awareness of career opportunities, and a reduction in pre-service training time and cost. However, it needs careful consideration and planning when imposing WBL as it consumes time to identify the key courses to be taught in degree programs.

4. OBE STRUCTURE IN PAKISTAN

Among all of the above-discussed educational reforms, Pakistan has started implementing OBE in its tertiary education system as per the policy of the Higher Education Commission (HEC). In many graduate programs including management, social and applied sciences it has opted for many years ago but engineering education was a bit lazy in this context. Pakistan Engineering Council (PEC), a statutory body to regulate the engineering profession including the mandatory education structure signed the Washington Accord in 2017 and thus instructed the HEC and affiliated institutions to make educational reforms under OBE [17]. This has been observed when Iqra National University in Peshawar started to propose a structure for Faculty Course Assessment Reports-FCAR for the assessment and monitoring of students' performance in the Department of Electrical Engineering and it was the first step toward OBE [18]. FCAR technique is a comprehensive document to assess the impact of OBE [19]. Faiz et al. [20] did similar research for a different institute. Manzoor et al. [21] discussed the transformation of the education infrastructure of Pakistan from content-based to Outcome-based technology and critically discussed the impact in terms of the success and failure of the system. This analysis was carried out typically for engineering graduate programs under the regulations implemented by PEC.

Pakistan has defined the infrastructure for OBE based on nine different criteria as shown in Table 1. Among all the nine criteria, three have gained much importance in Pakistan namely; Class Learning Objectives (CLOs), Program Learning Objectives (PLOs), and Program Educational Objectives (PEOs) [22]. PEOs are the broad statements or mission statements of the Academic Department explaining the goals and milestones which the students are achieving through a specific program. CLOs and PLOs are measurable statements from a course or activity which describe the expertise level of the students upon the completion of a degree

Table 1. Crit	teria for OBE	Implementation	n in Pakistan

Criteria	Measurable statement				
Criterion 1	Program Educational Objectives (PEOs)				
Criterion 2	Program Learning Outcomes (PLOs)				
Criterion 3	Curriculum and Learning Process/ Course Learning Outcomes (CLOs)				
Criterion 4	Students				
Criterion 5	Faculty and Support Staff				
Criterion 6	Facilities and Infrastructure				
Criterion 7	Institutional Support & Financial Resources				
Criterion 8	Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI)				
Criterion 9	Industrial Linkage				

program. The basic difference between CLOs and PLOs is that the CLO relates to a specific course or degree program while a PLO is associated with the whole Department. PEC has defined 6 CLOs and 12 PLOs to maintain the quality of education in engineering degree programs. The details of these CLOs and PLOs are presented in Table 2 and Table 3 respectively. Keeping in mind that the CLOs and PLOs combined result in achieving the PEOs of an organization and each PLO is to be evaluated through a CLO and CLO can be evaluated by any direct and/or indirect assessment [23]. Mahmood [24] has explained very well about the infrastructure and grading system as a part of OBE and described the minimum threshold for passing criteria and the respective assessments for CLOs and PLOs. DHA Suffa University has set a well-defined framework for an OBE structure to be implemented in Pakistan [25]. This framework is shown in Figure 1.

The two direct stakeholders of the OBE system are Students and Faculty staff. Students have the benefits of clarity, flexibility, and involvement in tasks and employment opportunities and they are expected to demonstrate what they know and must accept the responsibility for what they don't know in preparation for continue achieving and reach high performance finally students have to fulfill all the PLOs to obtain their respective degrees. The faculty members are required to satisfy a

Table 2. List of all possible CLOs in OBE Pakistan

Class learning objective (CLO)	Measurable statement
CLO 1	Knowledge
CLO 2	Comprehension
CLO 3	Application
CLO 4	Analysis
CLO 5	Synthesis
CLO 6	Evaluation

Table 3. List of PLOs in OBE Pakistan

Program learning objective (PLO)	Measurable statement
PLO 1	Engineering Knowledge
PLO 2	Problem Analysis
PLO 3	Design of Solutions
PLO 4	Investigation
PLO 5	Modern Tool Usage
PLO 6	The Engineer & Society
PLO 7	Environment & Sustainability
PLO 8	Ethics
PLO 9	Individual & Teamwork
PLO 10	Communication
PLO 11	Project Management
PLO 12	Lifelong Learning



Fig 1. A typical framework for OBE in Pakistan [25]

Key Performance Indicator (KPI) evaluation for each semester. KPIs are the targets and goals defined to strengthen the Institution's ability to evaluate how well a department is going to support the students in achieving the skills, knowledge, and personal grooming. PEC has associated these KPIs with the faculty members to bring strength to the Department's ability to design a specific program in a better way. The KPIs include factors such as their regularity, punctuality, lecture delivery and knowledge, research projects and publications, conferences and seminars, and arranging site visits. The KPI ranges for the faculty members are shown in Table 4 [26].

In a small survey, students were questioned about the OBE system w.r.t. its policies, probable advantages and outcomes, and shockingly, the majority of these students were even unaware of what the OBE is. The feedback from the industry, however, seems satisfied with the implementation of OBE. Figure 2 shows the satisfaction level of employers with the performance of freshly graduated students for each PLO. The PLOs with 50 % satisfaction can be termed as successfully implemented but it shows many of the dimensions to be handled carefully in the future.

To assess the successful impact of OBE, the KPI evaluation has been made for the faculty members of different engineering disciplines from various institutes. The KPI evaluation has been made through the Department Head as well as directly from the students to analyze the more realistic and true response. A random survey has been made by Department to get the results of KPI reports confidentially and the results are presented graphically. Similarly, a group of 1000 students was questioned randomly to evaluate the KPI scores of their teaching staff, and the results are summarized graphically. The results of both surveys are shown

Table 4	4. KPI	range	for	faculty	members	; [2	26	
---------	--------	-------	-----	---------	---------	------	----	--

KPI range	Performance level
Below 50	Under Performance
50-60	Satisfactory Performance
60-70	Good Performance
70-80	Very Good Performance
80-90	Excellent Performance
Above 90	Outstanding Performance

in Figures 3 and 4 respectively.

4.1 Advantages and Disadvantages of OBE

Compared to the traditional teacher-centered education system, OBE has provided students more importance w.r.t their fundamental rights. The PLOs have made education multifacet and the KPI evaluation has activated the working strength of the faculty members. On the other hand, it has become much more difficult to monitor the circumstances and results of OBE at such a big national level. Moreover, OBE constituted a more busy workload for faculty members and make it a bit difficult for students as well since they have to satisfy all the CLOs and PLOs to obtain their degrees. [26]

According to the PEC accreditation manual 2014, the OBE needs to be implemented in engineering degree programs in the future. In 2017, PEC became a full signatory member of the Washington Accord [27]. Therefore, since 2017, educational reforms have been made in engineering degree programs in Pakistan and engineering graduates have been introduced to the learning concept of OBE. Since, this is a newly adopted technique of learning in engineering subjects and not so many of the batches have graduated with the OBE concept therefore, it will take a few more years to assess the impact of OBE in the professional industry. Dewani et. al (2022) evaluated the impact of OBE implementation using the comparison of



Fig 2. Performance of fresh graduates with respect to PLOs

Haider et al



Fig 3. KPI evaluation of faculty members through daepartment records

students taught with and without the OBE system [28]. They found OBE more efficient in terms of student learning, grades, and skill competencies.

5. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Pakistan started implementing OBE in 2017 for all of the engineering degree programs under the PEC guidelines and successfully designed the PLOs and PEOs for the institutions. Unfortunately, till date, it has not been implemented completely and it will take a considerable time to get results of this educational reform. However, it has made the faculty member to be more academic since they have to present their KPIs at the end of each semester. At the current stage, OBE has kept the academic staff so busy in making policies and regulations that their workload becomes too high and this is resulting in their performance. Some Institutions involved their faculty members in the administrative work of OBE implementation and this has badly affected their academic performance. In addition, PLOs 2, 3, 4 & 7 need to be monitored with more focus as their satisfaction level has been obtained less than 50 % from the employers.

The following suggestions are highly recommended to make the education sector more strengthened:

1. The assessment of students' grades can be made in terms of excellency class rather than numeric scaling. That is *satisfactory*, *Fair*, *Good*, *Very Good*, *and Outstanding grades*. This will



Fig 4. KPI evaluation of faculty members through students

maintain a confidence level in a student as no one is aware of their performance and marking in exams and ultimately, it can help in their learning and communication in their tasks and completing degrees.

- 2. As the KPI has been implemented for the faculty members, it is suggested to announce their allowances, bonus, and increments based on the KPIs of each semester. It will make the faculty work with full pace of academic strength to participate in the competition.
- 3. About 15 percent of academic staff has been found under-performance and that might be because of the implementation of new system. Hence, PEC and HEC should conduct seminars and training workshops to keep the academia updated and efficient.
- Apart from OBE, other models of education such as WBL & CBE must also be considered parallel. Especially, WBL has a more practical influence on the education of future employees.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the support provided by the Civil Engineering Department at Sir Syed University of Engineering and Technology, Karachi to carry out this small project. Moreover, a lot of thanks to all those students who participated in the project voluntarily to conduct the survey and all those who responded to us for making this survey successful.

7. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

8. REFERENCES

- S.M. Rahman. Relationship among GDP, per capita GDP, literacy rate, and unemployment rate. British Journal of Arts and Social Sciences 14(2): 169-177 (2013).
- United Nation International Children's Emergency Funds, UNICEF. https://www.unicef.org/education (Accessed on 18.12.2021).
- Innovative School Networks, ISN. https://www. innovativeschoolsnetwork.com/resources/pages/ education-models (Accessed on 27.12.2021).
- P.J. William. STEM Education: proceed with caution. Design and Technology Education: An International Journal 16(1): 26-35 (2011).
- B. Condliffe, J. Quint, M.G. Visher, M.R. Bangser, S. Drohojowska, L. Saco, and E. Nelson. Projectbased learning: A literature review. MDRC: Working Paper. https://www.mdrc.org/publication/ project-based-learning (Accessed on 22.05.2023).
- M.S. Arman, S. Rahman, S. Surat, and A.Y.A Bakar. Connecting neuroscience and education: Insight from neuroscience findings for better instructional learning. Journal for the Education of Gifted Young Scientist 7(2): 341-352 (2019).
- 7. L. Cornish. Multiage classes What's in a name? Journal of Multiage Education 4(2): 7-11 (2010).
- International Engineering Alliance: Washington Accord. https://www.ieagreements.org/accords/ washington (Accessed on 30.12.2021).
- The Connecticut General Assembly, CTG. https:// cga.ct.gov/PS94/rpt%5Colr%5Chtm/94-R-0290. html (Accessed on 23.12.2021).
- 10. www.k12academics.com (Accessed on 01.01.2022).
- H.M. Asim, A. Vaz, A. Ahmed, and S. Samreen. Review on outcome-based education and factors that impact student learning outcomes in the tertiary education system. International Education Studies 14(2): 1-11 (2021).
- 12. R. Katawazai. Implementing outcome-based education and student-centered learning in Afghan public universities: The current practice and challenges. Heliyon 7(5): 16 (2021).
- 13. T. Oroszi. Competency-based education. Creative Education 11(11): 2467-2476 (2020).
- N.O. Sullivan, and A. Bruce. Teaching and learning in competency-based education. In: 5th International Conference on e-Learning. Elearning, Serbia (2014).
- 15. J.A. Raelin. A model of work-based learning. Organization Science 8(6): 563-578 (1997).
- C. Stasz, and D.J. BreweR. Work-Based Learning: Student Perspectives on Quality and Links to School. Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis 20(1): 31–46 (1998).

- 17. Pakistan Engineering Council. https://www.pec. org.pk/ (Accessed on 01.01.2022).
- K. Mahmood, K.M. Khan, K.S. Khan, and S. Kiani. Implementation of outcome-based education in Pakistan: A step towards Washington Accord. In: IEEE 7th international conference on engineering education, ICEED: 166-170. IEEE (2015).
- 19. J.K. Estell. Streamlining the assessment process with the faculty course assessment report. International Journal of Engineering Education 25(5): 941-951 (2009).
- M.M.U. Faiz, U. Bin Mansoor, S.M. Asad, and K. Mahmood. Using faculty course assessment report for the assessment of an associate degree course in engineering technology program. In: 6th International Conference on Engineering Education, ICEED: 73-78. IEEE (2014).
- A. Manzoor, H. Aziz, M. Jahanzaib, A. Wasim, and S. Hussain. Transformational model for engineering education from content-based to outcome-based education. International Journal of Continuing Engineering Education and Life-Long Learning 27(4): 266 (2017).
- A. Mirza, and S. Javed. An effective and efficient implementation of the OBE framework within a constrained Pakistani Environment to attain desired learning outcomes. Sir Syed University Research Journal of Engineering & Technology 12(1): 7 (2022).
- 23. M. Kamran, B.U. Nisa, M.R. Fazal, M.I. Abid, and I. Abid. Implementation of the outcome-based education system in engineering programs for Pakistan Engineering Council accreditation under Washington accord signatory. Science International (Lahore) 32(2): 197-206 (2020).
- K. Mahmood. Practicing outcome-based education in Pakistan universities: A step towards globalization. Pakistan Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences Research 4(2): 189-201 (2021).
- 25. DHA Suffa University, DSU. https://www.dsu. edu.pk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/obe_students_ manual.pdf (Accessed on 04.01.2022).
- Sir Syed University of Engineering and Technology-Karachi (SSUET) https://www.ssuet.edu.pk/ qec-introduction/ssuet-policies/ (Accessed on 22.10.2022).
- https://ppd.neduet.edu.pk/sites/default/files/ Introduction%20to%20Outcome%20Based%20 Education%20(OBE)%20for%20students_3.pdf (Accessed on 05.04.2023)
- A. Dewani, S. Bhatti, and M.A. Memon. Analysis of Outcome-based educational model in Engineering Education with preliminary Findings. International Journal of Advanced Culture Technology 10(1): 1-9 (2022).

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: A Physical and Computational Sciences 60(1): 9-13 (2023) Copyright © Pakistan Academy of Sciences ISSN (Print): 2518-4245; ISSN (Online): 2518-4253 https://doi.org/10.53560/PPASA(60-1)671



Spectral Variability of the Symbiotic Star CH Cyg

Mikailov Khidir Mustafa¹, Mammadov Ruslan Tavakkul^{2*}, Rustamov Bayram Nizam^{1,3}, and Rustamova Aysel Bayram³

¹Baku State University, Department of Astrophysics, Baku, Azerbaijan ²Batabat Astrophysical Observatory of Nakhchivan branch of Azerbaijan National Academy of Sciences, Nakhchivan, Azerbaijan ³Shamakhy Astrophysical Observatory named after N.Tusi of the Azerbaijan National Academy of Sciences, Baku, Azerbaijan

Abstract: On July 15, 2015, the second telescope of the Shamakhi Astrophysical Observatory (ShAO) was used to collect 14 echelle spectra of the symbiotic star CH Cyg over the course of six hours of nocturnal exposures. Along the profiles of the lines H α and H β , the intensity of line Hel λ 5876 Å fluctuates simultaneously with variations in the intensity ratios of the blue and red emission components. The Hel λ 5876 Å line's center intensities and corresponding widths correlate with information from the blue emission component of the lines. There are certain correlations between the radial velocities of the absorption DNaI and the emission line H α .

Keywords: Symbiotic Star, Line Profile, Line Intensity, Radial Velocity.

1. INTRODUCTION

The advantageous star CH Cyg is bizarre and varies significantly from other conventional advantageous stars based on its ghostly and photometric behavior within the "calm" and dynamic stages, as well as based on the unveiled sets of periods for the system's outspread speeds and light bends. Following the appearance of symbiotic behavior, the photometric history of the star is shown as active phases (a sequence of flashes: 1969–1970; 1977-1986; 1992-95 and 1998-1999), interrupted by "silent" intervals of varying lengths. From many minutes (flashing amid the dynamic stage) to hundreds of days (throb and revolution of M ruddy giant), and indeed 10 of a long time, changes within the CH Cyg light bend take place on different time periods (orbital moving of the components within the framework). Beginning around 2010, the star's brightness in the rays of U progressively grows until it reaches a value of around 7^m-8^m by the end of 2014. The striking spectral and photometric variability that took place in 2014–2015, along with the synchronized rise in the star's brightness in the U and V rays, prove beyond a shadow of a doubt that CH Cyg has entered its subsequent active phase [2-9]. In the active phase of the star, flickers, which are defined as a dramatic rise in brightness over a time period of few minutes to many hours with an amplitude of 0.1^{m} to 0.5^{m} , emerge in CH Cyg's optical brightness.

The interaction among the parallel framework and the near-stellar matter causes exceptionally complicated kinematics to make within the nearstellar medium amid the dynamic stages of the advantageous framework. Diverse sorts of changes within the profiles of the hydrogen Balmer lines are one way that the variable of the growth and outflow administration of matter uncovers itself. Therefore, thorough investigations despite spectrum throughout all of the CH Cyg star's active phases, there is still no single explanation that can fully account for the majority of the observable evidence [see, for example, 3, 10-12].

On the night of July 15, 2015, spectral measurements of CH Cyg were made using the

Received: February 2023 Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding author: Mammadov Ruslan Tavakkul <radiasiya555@rambler.ru>

Shamakhy Astrophysical Observatory's second telescope. Parts of the findings from these observations are described in [13, 14]. The Hel λ 5876 Å lines and the NaI D1 and D2 doublet in the CH Cyg spectrum are described in detail in this work, along with a comparison to the findings of previous studies on the H α and H β lines based on the same spectra [13, 14].

2. SPECTRAL OBSERVATIONS PROCEDURE

The spectra of CH Cyg within the wavelength run $\lambda\lambda$ 4700-6800 ÅÅ were gotten for one night (15.07.2015) within the Cassegrain center of the 2nd telescope of the ShAO. An Echelle spectrometer was used, assembled based on a all inclusive astrospectrograph (UAGS), employing a CCD camera of 580×530 pixels with a scattering of 10.5 Å /mm at H_a (ghastly determination R = 14,000 [15]. The observations were carried out continuously for 6 hours with an exposure of 20 minutes for each spectrum. A total of 14 Echelle spectra were obtained. Observations and processing of Echelle spectra were carried out using the DECH–20 software package developed at the SAO RAS [16].

3. OBSERVATION RESULTS

From all of the available spectra, the profiles of the lines Hel λ 5876 Å, NaI D1, and NaI D2 were built, and the equivalent widths and radial velocities of the lines were determined from these profiles. Figures 1a and 1b display the profiles of the lines Hel λ 5876 Å and NaI D1 and D2 in the CH Cyg star's one-night spectral analysis.

As observed in Figure 1a, there are significant variations to the center intensity of the Hel λ 5876 Å line profiles over a period of roughly 20 minutes that are almost coincident with changes to the Ib/Ir ratios of the H α and H β lines. As mentioned in, the variation in the intensity of the blue emission



Fig. 1. (a, b). Profiles of HeI λ 5876 and NaI D1.2 lines in the spectra of the symbiotic star CH Cyg observed for one night (2015-07-05 UT 17:11 – 22:53).



Fig. 2. (a, b). Dependences of the profile parameters of the blue component of the Ha lines on HeI 5876

component is the major cause of the change in the Ib/Ir ratio [13, 14]. Therefore, it can be inferred indirectly that the Hel λ 5876 Å and Ib emission lines' intensities shift about at the same time. The Hel λ 5876 Å line's relative intensity was 1.93 at the start of the observations; at the conclusion, it had climbed by around twice and was at a value of 3.36. The blue component of the H α and Hel λ 5876 Å lines' profile characteristics exhibit strong correlations. Correlation values of 0.92 and 0.70, respectively, are found between the relative intensities and equivalent widths of these lines (see Figure 2a and 2b). The antiphase is when the Hel λ 5876 Å line's center intensity and half-width alter (Figure 3a and 3b).

The NaI D1 and D2 lines, particularly NaI D1, have a profile of type P Cyg, as seen in Figure 1b. The outspread speed of the emanation component of the line NaI D1 is close to the speed of the ruddy component (Vre) of the emanation lines H α and H β , and the spiral speed of the assimilation component of the line NaI D1 generally compares to the outspread speed of the blue component (Vbe) of the outflow lines H α and H β (roughly -100 km/s) [14].

Although the absorption core exhibits significant fluctuation, particularly in the NaI D1 line, the residual intensity of the NaI D1 and D2 lines do not exhibit abrupt shifts. For the observation period, the emission component NaI D1 does not exhibit fluctuation. A second absorption component shows at the NaI D1 line on one spectrum (UT 22:37) with a speed of 68 km/s, which is comparable to the Ha line's core absorption rate [14]. On this spectrum, the HeI λ 5876 line's intensity reaches a maximum.

4. **DISCUSSION**

We found the dependences of the escalated of the HeI λ 5876 emanation line, the proportionate width of the blue outflow component, and the leftover escalated of the high-speed retention components on the Ib/Ir proportions of the twofold profiles of the emanation H α and H β lines utilizing spectra from one night for a time interim of approximately 6 hours.

Outspread speeds of the outflow line H α and the D NaI assimilation line have a few association, as seen in Figure 4. This shows up to infer that sodium lines create in a especially hot and thick gas within the line's creation zone. Such circumstances are achieved in exceptionally minor segments of the disk or wind, but the root of the emanation line creation is much bigger, for illustration, see [17].

It appears that the white dwarf's activity levels and orbital location have a significant impact on the profiles' shapes and intensity ratios of the emission lines. The phase that corresponds to our spectral measurements was computed for the orbital period of 5689.2 days using the ephemeris from [18]: ϕ = 0.028.

JD (periastre)=2445681 (±192) + 5689.2 (±47.0) x E



where JD –Julian date and E is an integer number of cycles. The hot component was virtually periastric at the time of our spectral measurements. It may be

Fig. 3. (a, b). The change in the central intensity (y-axis scale on the left scale) and the half-width (y-axis scale on the right scale) - (a) and the dependence between the central intensity of the half-width - (b) - line Hel λ 5876 on a time scale of regarding 6 hours during the night in the spectrum of the symbiotic star CH Cyg.



Fig. 4. Profiles of the lines NaI D1 (solid line), NaI D2 (dashed line) - scale on the y axis on the left scale and the emission line H α (dashed line) - scale on the y axis on the right scale, according to the spectrum obtained in 2015-07-05 (UT 22:37).

believed that the hot star in 2014-2015 was situated close to the periaster due to the enormous size of the orbital period. The mass exchange process is activated when the system components have reached their maximum convergence, and this is followed by a large increase in spectral variability.

Rapid photometric variability was seen in the active phase of the symbiotic star CH Cyg system in 2014-2015 with amplitudes of $0.^{m}1-0.^{m}3$ and $\sim0.^{m}5$ over typical times of 7–15 minutes and 4 hours, respectively [6,7]. Combining the aforementioned observational data, it can be said that the CH Cyg system exhibits fast photometric variability (flickering) in 2014-2015 and in earlier active phases, with characteristic timings that are similar to those of spectral variability. Evidently, the star's optical brightness is flickering in conjunction with the quick spectral shifts we have observed in the CH Cyg spectrum.

5. CONCLUSION

- 1. It was discovered that $H\alpha$ and $H\beta$ simultaneously occur with variations in the Ib/Ir ratios of the emission lines' blue emission component.
 - a. variations in the line HeI λ 5876 's intensity. The HeI λ 5876 line's center intensities and comparable widths correlate with information from the H lines' blue emission component.
 - b. changes in the corresponding lengths of the H α and H β lines' blue emission

components.

- c. the intensity of the H β line's blue wing's high-speed broad absorption components. During the observations, the intensity of the absorption components increased for 2.5 hours when the Ib/Ir ratio decreased, then decreased for the following 3 hours when the Ib/Ir ratio increased.
- 2. The outspread speed of the emanation component of the line NaI D1 is close to the speed of the ruddy component (Vre) of the emanation lines H α and H β , and the spiral speed of the assimilation component of the line NaI D1 generally compares to the outspread speed of the blue component (Vbe) of the outflow lines H α and H β (roughly -100 km/s) [14].
- 3. Our quick spectral variations in the CH Cyg spectrum are likely caused by the star's optical brightness flickering, which is typical of the active phase of the system.

6. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

7. REFERENCES

- J. Mikołajewska, Y. Balega, K. Hofmann, and G. Weigelt. First spatial resolution of the stellar components of the interacting binary CH Cygni. *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society* 403: 21–25 (2010).
- A. Skopal. ARAS Eruptive Stars Information Letter 13 (01): 31-01 (2015).

- F. Rspaev, L. Kondratyeva, and E. Aimuratov. CH Cygni: New Brightening in 2014. Commissions 27 and 42 of the IAU information bulletin on variable stars. *Information Bulletin on Variable Stars* 6117: 121–124 (2017).
- 4. A. Skopal. *ARAS Eruptive Stars Information Letter* 11: 17-11, 10 (2014).
- 5. A. Skopal. *ARAS Eruptive Stars Information Letter* 14 (02): 28-02, (2015a).
- S. Shugarov, A. Sekeras, A. Skopal, and G. Komissarova. Investigation of a rapid photometric variability of the symbiotic system CH Cyg during its current 2014-15 active phase. *Physics of Evolved Stars 2015*, 8-12 Jun, France 71: 67 (2015a).
- S. Shugarov, A. Skopal, M. Sekeras, G. Komissarova, and M. Wolf. Rapid Photometric Variability Of The Symbiotic System CH Cyg During 2008-15. *EAS Publications Series* 71-72: 107–108 (2015).
- A. Skopal. ARAS Eruptive Stars Information Letter 16 (04): 08-05 (2015b).
- 9. A. Skopal. ARAS Eruptive Stars Information Letter 17 (05): 19-07 (2015c).
- T. Tomov, D. Kolev, U. Munari, and A. Antov. Time-resolved high-resolution spectroscopy of CH Cygni: evidence for a magnetic propeller state in 1994. *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society* 278: 542–550 (1996).
- M. Burmeister, and L. Leedjarv. Spectroscopy of the symbiotic binary CH Cygni from 1996 to 2007. *Astronomy and Astrophysics* 504: 171–180 (2009).
- 12. S.P.S. Eyres, M.F. Bode, A. Skopal, M.M. Crocker,

R.J. Davis, A.R. Taylor, M. Teodorani, L. Errico, A.A. Vittone, and V.G. Elkin. The symbiotic star CH Cygni – II. The ejecta from the 1998–2000 active phase. *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society* 335: 526-538 (2002).

- K.M. Mikailov, B.N. Rustamov, I.A. Alakbarov, and A.B. Rustamova. Rapid Hα variability in CH Cyg during of night. *Azerbaijani Astronomical Journal* 10 (3): 25–30 (2015).
- K.M. Mikayilov, B.N. Rustamov, I.A. Alakbarov, and A.B. Rustamova. The rapid spectral variability of the symbiotic star CH Cyg during one-night. *San Francisco: Astronomical Society of the Pacific* 510: 170-173 (2017).
- K.M. Mikailov, V.M. Khalilov, and I.A. Alekberov. Cassegrain focus echelle spectrometer of the 2-m telescope at the Shamakhy Astrophysical Observatory. *Tsirkulyar ShAO* 109: 21–29 (2005).
- 16. G.A. Galazutdinov. *Preprint of the Special Astrophysical Observatory* 92: (1992).
- A. Natta, V.P. Grinin, and L.V. Tambovtseva. An Interesting Episode of Accretion Activity in UX Orionis. *The Astrophysical Journal* 542: 421-427 (2000).
- K.H. Hinkle, F.C. Fekel, and R. Joyce. Infrared Spectroscopy of Symbiotic Stars. VII. Binary Orbit and Long Secondary Period Variability of CH Cygni. *The Astrophysical Journal* 692: 1360–1373 (2009).

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: A Physical and Computational Sciences 60(1): 15-21 (2023) Copyright © Pakistan Academy of Sciences ISSN (Print): 2518-4245; ISSN (Online): 2518-4253 https://doi.org/10.53560/PPASA(60-1)800



Temperature-Properties Relationships of Martensitic Stainless Steel for Improved Utilization in Surgical Tools

Ibrar Ahmed¹, Badar-ud-Din Soomro², Muhammad Irfan², Noor Faraz Khan², Muhammad Bilal Afzal², Junaid Israr², Ambreen Saddozai¹, and Muhammad Yousif²

¹National Metrology Institute of Pakistan, Islamabad, Pakistan ²Pakistan Institute of Technology for Minerals and Advanced Engineering Materials (PITMAEM), Pakistan Council of Scientific and Industrial Research, Lahore, Pakistan

Abstract: Sintering temperature and environment plays a very important role in strengthening powder particles of compacting surgical parts by cold powder metallurgy technique. Powder metallurgy is a process of producing components/tools by compacting finely metallic or nonmetallic powders. Generally, in the last decade, these tools were produced by conventional casting techniques but now first time in Pakistan this technique is introduced to develop surgical tools/parts. In this study, the effect of sintering behavior by varying temperatures and environments was studied. The AISI 420 Stainless steel compacted surgical parts (Scalpel and scissor) were sintered at 1000 °C to 1300 °C for 30 minutes in a vacuum and an inert environment in the presence of Argon. The compact density, microstructure and mechanical properties were studied. Microstructural characteristics like porosity, and crystalline size were studied by optical microscope. The hardness values and density of the final parts were also measured through the Rockwell hardness machine and by the Archimedes principle. Decreasing the porosity in the final parts will increase the mechanical properties of sintered parts. Adopting the present process for the development of surgical tools after further refining, the process will prove beneficial in the cost-effectiveness, time and energy saving of the present product.

Keywords: Sintering Temperature, Sintering Environment, Surgical Parts, Stainless Steel, Powder Metallurgy.

1. INTRODUCTION

Powder metallurgy (PM) offers a great advantage when the required criteria for manufacturing are small components in large series with intricate and net shapes [1-3]. PM of martensitic stainless steel is reported to vary on a limited scale due to its difficult processability as compared to other PM of stainless steel [4]. Martensitic starless steel (MSS) and Austenitic stainless steel (ASS) are ordinarily utilized for manufacturing parts with remarkable mechanical and optimum corrosion resistance properties to be worked in different conditions [5, 6]. Their properties can be modified by the heat treatment process, unlike other stainless-steel products [7]. As such, these are widely utilized in dental and surgical instruments, pressure vessels, steam generators, moulds and dies, cutting tools manufacturing as well as automotive sector [8-11].

The PM stainless steel shows limitation in its applications due to low mechanical and corrosion properties as compared to other nonporous materials equivalent to them. Therefore, there is always a primary concern to improve such properties [12, 13]. Enhanced densification by supersolidus liquid phase was attempted by sintering in hydrogen atmosphere for austenitic stainless steel or to increase the mechanical properties such as tensile and fatigue strength by sintering in nitrogen environment and eventually, densification rate was boosted by micro addition of other elements such as silicon. In addition, elements which spark sintering and increase densification such as copper and boron were added to the duplex stainless steel in order to minimize residual porosity and enhancing ductility, so as to improve mechanical behavior of the final samples [12].

Received: January 2023; Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding author: Ibrar Ahmed <Abrarktk91@gmail.com>

Ahmed et al

It is proven that sintering-cooling rates have high impact on microstructure of materials [4, 13]. Decrease in corrosion resistance by the presence of brittle phases in austenitic and ferrite stainless steel samples sintered in vacuum and followed by slow cooling. Powder Injection molded austenitic stainless steel (316 L) exhibits improved mechanical and corrosion properties sintered in vacuum with a cooling rate of 10 °C per min, as compared to those cooled at 5 °C per min [14].

Pakistan is one of the major exporters of hand-held surgical instruments throughout the world [15-17]. Owing to the quality of Pakistan's surgical instruments as compared to its cost, various international brands are reported to have shut down their manufacturing units. The surgical industry plays a crucial role as it contributes 1.6 % to overall exports of Pakistan. It has among highly potential items to enhance its contribution to country's overall exports. If proper policymaking is provided, this industry can easily achieve its full potential which will allow it to compete with its global competitors, according to the major industry's players [18, 19].

On the other side of coin, the manufacturers of surgical products in Pakistan are facing several problems. The major problems include lack of adaption of new technology and modernization, continuously decreasing skilled labors and lack of proper R & D for innovation. The industry will face a new and emerging challenge as the European Union is going to introduce Medical Device Regulation (MDR) in the beginning of 2024. According to this law, the surgical instruments will have to be compliant with the new European regulations on biocompatibility. The growing markets of China and Mexico are also posing a major competition for Pakistan's exporter as their innovation sides are more advanced [19-21].

Manufacturing of various engineering products by the use of PM is an emerging field in developing countries. A recent advent 3D printing manufacturing technology, which can be considered as modern shape of Powder Metallurgy is set to revolutionize many industries. 3D printing manufacturing technology has the ability to manufacture any engineering design/parts at a fraction of the present cost. It is expected that this manufacturing technology will change the face of today industries. 3D printing plays a major and important role in the field of medical devices manufacturing [22-24].

Due to the advantage of low labor cost of Pakistani industries, it remains competitive in the international market. The 3D printing manufacturing technology is presently utilized for prototyping only in developed countries, while Pakistan is still sticking to the conventional machining process which uses high energy and human resources. If commercial application of 3D printing started its operation for batch production, our industry might face existential risk in the near future. Therefore, serious steps need to be taken to counter the recent challenges [19].

In the present research, microstructure, density, porosity and mechanical properties of AISI 420 martensitic stainless steel sintered in Argon environment were investigated as a function of temperature for making surgical tools by powder metallurgy, a step way forward to strengthen the manufacturing quality of said tools in Pakistan.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

A commercially available AISI 420 martensitic stainless-steel SP-112 grade powder with a mesh size of -200 and zinc stearate as a binder were selected as the base material to prepare surgical tool samples in this research. Powder-binder mixture with different weight percentages of zinc stearate ranges from 0.90 weight % to 4 weight % was prepared in tubular mixer for 30 min. After mixing, zinc stearate powder was homogenously distributed within the stainless-steel powder and hydraulic press of 250 ton's capacity at ~2500 psi for ~8 sec's. Zinc stearate was also used as a die lubricant. Green compact specimens were sintered in Argon atmosphere with a flow rate of Argon gas is 1.5 normal liters per min at different sets of temperature ranges from 1000 °C to 1250 °C, and then cooled in a water-cooled chamber as shown in Table 1. The chemical composition of AISI 420 stainless steel powder is given in Table 2. The schematic representation of the PM process adopted for the present study is shown in Figure 1.

2.1 Characterization Technique

The samples for microstructure evaluation were prepared by cutting the specimen from different parts of surgical tools followed by grinding and polishing. Electrochemical etching using Oxalic acid (10 gram) and distilled water (90 %) was used in order to reveal the microstructure. Density of sintered samples was measured by water

PM in Surgical Tools Development

Sample ID	Base Powder	Binder	Sintering Temperature	Soaking Time	Sintering Environment
Sample 1	420 SS	Zinc stearate	1000 °C	30 min	Argon, Vacuum
Sample 2	420 SS	Zinc stearate	1100 °C	30 min	Argon, Vacuum
Sample 3	420 SS	Zinc stearate	1120 °C	30 min	Argon, Vacuum
Sample 4	420 SS	Zinc stearate	1140 °C	30 min	Argon, Vacuum
Sample 5	420 SS	Zinc stearate	1150 °C	30 min	Argon, Vacuum
Sample 6	420 SS	Zinc stearate	1200 °C	30 min	Argon
Sample 7	420 SS	Zinc stearate	1220 °C	30 min	Argon
Sample 8	420 SS	Zinc stearate	1250 °C	30 min	Argon



Fig. 1. Schematic representation of Powder Metallurgy Process adopted for present study

Table 2. Composition of AISI 420 martensitic stainless steel as received

Cr	Ni	С	Мо	Mn	Si	Fe
12/14	3/5	0.25-0.35	2/3	≤1	≤1	Balance

Table 1. Experimental conditions used for sintering of AISI420 stainless steel compacted surgical tools



Fig. 2. Optical micrographs of 420 martensitic stainless steel samples sintered at different temperatures (a) 1000 °C, (b) 1150 °C (c) 1200 °C, and (d) 1250 °C

displacement method based on the Archimedes principle in accordance with the ASTM B328-03 standard. Mechanical properties of sintered samples were evaluated using Vickers hardness test. Image J software was utilized to find out the porosity of sintered samples.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Microscopic images were obtained in order to examine the porosity of sintered samples shown in Figure 2(a-d). As the samples were sintered within a temperature range of 1000 °C up till 1250 °C under a controlled environment, it was observed that the samples sintered at 1000 °C exhibited higher porosity due to low solid diffusion rate, whereas with the rise in temperature up till 1250 °C, total porosity levels started to decrease. As we know, porosity level can be reduced by two methods in powder metallurgy. The first method is to increase the compaction pressure in order to raise densification of green bodies. The other method is to increase the sintering temperature. At 1100 °C, the porosity level decreases as compared to that of lower temperatures. Upon reaching 1200 °C, the changes in total porosity level becomes prominent, which means proper sintering of green samples

has been completed at this temperature, minor or almost negligible changes observed after the temperature at 1250 °C [5, 12] as shown in Figure 3. Moreover, as the sintering temperature increases to around 1200 °C, pore sizes are getting smaller and smaller due to the effect of solid-state diffusion within the samples.



Fig. 3. Percentage/Volume of porosity determined for 420 martensitic stainless steel obtained by Image J



Fig. 4. Density changes with respect to sintering

The sintering process is actually based on diffusion phenomena. The micrographs (Figure 2) clearly show that half of the pores are so small at higher sintering temperature that they act as closed pores as compared to open ones, which are dominant in lower sintering temperature. Relative density of sintered samples was measured by the Archimedes principle. It is clear from Figure 4 that density increases by increasing sintering temperature [25]. As previously discussed, diffusion phenomenon is dominant at higher temperatures, so we obtained dense samples at those temperatures [5]. Hardness of any sintered material strongly depends upon the porosity level percentage. The main idea of our research is to replace surgical tools manufacturing through forging and machining by production through sintering via powder metallurgy. Hardness of sintered samples is always lower compared to those of forged ones. Hardness values (HV) of samples sintered at 1000 °C are about 85 HV, but,



Fig. 5. Comparison of hardness values for different samples



Fig. 6. Surgical tools prepared via powder metallurgy temperature calculated by Archimedes principle

at higher sintering temperature, hardness values start to increase up to 205 HV at 1250 °C as shown in Figure 5. Compaction force and cooling rate also affects hardness values and it is very important factor for stainless steel products [26]. Consequently, in this research, cooling of sintered samples in a water-cooled furnace is responsible for increment in hardness values. The final surgical tools developed as a result of present study are presented in Figure 6.

4. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

For PM stainless steel, the hardness, pore size and density were found improved by the application of proper sintering temperature and compaction pressure. At high temperature, the diffusion phenomenon becomes high as compared to that at lower temperatures, and it is the main concept behind good mechanical properties and density of the sintered samples. In the present research, unfortunately, we didn't achieve the optimum mechanical properties necessary for commercial surgical tools. However, it was a first step/struggle towards upgradation of aforementioned tools manufacturing process in Pakistan. The present study will open new doors for researchers to work for the betterment in the said field.

Mechanical properties, density and porosity will expectedly increase by sintering of surgical tools in nitrogen and hydrogen environment and we are further working on similar sintering environment. Enhancement of overall properties can expectedly be done by using additive manufacturing process or the novel 3D printing process.

5. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

6. **REFRENCES**

- G.Y. Liu, B.R. Sun, C.C. Du, S. Li, S.W. Xiu, and T.D. Shen. Hierarchically structured powder metallurgy austenitic stainless steel with exceptional strength and ductility. Materials Science and Engineering: A 861: 144351 (2022).
- F. Martin, C. Garcia, and M. Aparicio. Tribocorrosion behaviour of powder metallurgy duplex stainless steels sintered in nitrogen. Tribology International 57: 76-85 (2013).
- M. Javanbakht, M.J. Hadianfard, and E. Salahinejad. Microstructure and mechanical properties of a new group of nanocrystalline medical-grade stainless steels prepared by powder metallurgy. Journal of Alloys and Compounds 624: 17-21 (2015).
- K. Saeidi, D.L. Zapata, F. Lofaj, L. Kvetkova, J. Olsen, Z. shen, and F. Akhtar. Ultra-high strength martensitic 420 stainless steel with high ductility. Additive Manufacturing 29: 100803 (2019).
- M. Javanbakht, E. Salahinejad, and M.J. Hadianfard. The effect of sintering temperature on the structure and mechanical properties of medical-grade powder metallurgy stainless steels. Powder Technology 289: 37-43 (2016).
- S.O. Akinwamide, O.J. Akinribide, M. Mafafo, P. Mjwana, B.A. Obadele, B.T. Abe, and P. Olubambi. Effect of TiN addition on corrosion behavior of spark plasma sintered 304L austenitic stainless steel in chloride media. Materials Today: Proceedings 28: 384-387 (2020).
- A.N. Acar, A.K. Ekşi, and A. Ekicibil. Effect of pressure on the magnetic and structural properties of X2CrNiMo17-12-2 austenitic stainless steel prepared by powder metallurgy method. Journal of Molecular Structure 1198: 126876 (2019).
- 8. K.V.V. Nagaraju, S. Kumaran, and T.S. Rao. Electrochemical behavior of various grade P/M stainless steels processed by rapid microwave hybrid sintering (super-solidus) method. Materials Letters 302: 130394 (2021).
- L.H. Heidari, M.J. Hadianfard, A.R. Khalifeh, D. Vashaee, and L.Tayebi. Fabrication of nanocrystalline austenitic stainless steel with

superior strength and ductility via binder assisted extrusion method. Powder Technology 379: 38-48 (2021).

- S. Pandya, S.R. Kandala, A.R. Annamalai, and A. Upadhaya. Effect of sintering temperature on the mechanical and electrochemical properties of austenitic stainless steel. Materials Science and Engineering: A 556: 271-277 (2012).
- W. Shen, B. Nan, W. Wang, L. Yu, Q. Zhang, Y. He, X. Huang, and G. yuan. In situ synthesis and strengthening of ultra high-carbon martensitic stainless steels in addition of LaB6. Journal of Alloys and Compounds 738: 363-371 (2018).
- F. Martín, C. Garcia, Y. Blanco, and M. L. R-Mendez. Influence of sinter-cooling rate on the mechanical properties of powder metallurgy austenitic, ferritic, and duplex stainless steels sintered in vacuum. Materials Science and Engineering: A 642: 360-365 (2015).
- C. García, F. Martin, and Y. Blanco. Effect of sintering cooling rate on corrosion resistance of powder metallurgy austenitic, ferritic and duplex stainless steels sintered in nitrogen. Corrosion Science 61: 45-52 (2012).
- 14. M.R. Raza, F. Ahmad, M.A. Omar, and R.M. German. Effects of cooling rate on mechanical properties and corrosion resistance of vacuum sintered powder injection molded 316L stainless steel. Journal of Materials Processing Technology 212(1): 164-170 (2012).
- 15. M.F. Bhutta. Quality of Surgical Instruments. The Annals of The Royal College of Surgeons of England 89(2): 190-190 (2007).
- 16. A. Ikram, Q. Su, and M. Sadiq. Technical Efficiency And Its Determinants: An Empirical Study Of Surgical Instruments Cluster Of Pakistan. Journal of Applied Business Research 32: 647-660 (2016).
- 17. M. Junaid, R.N. Malik, and D.-S. Pei. Health hazards of child labor in the leather products and surgical instrument manufacturing industries of Sialkot, Pakistan. Environmental Pollution 226: 198-211 (2017).
- M.Z. Khan. Pakistan's shadow surgical instruments' sector. Report, Dawn/22.08, Business & Finance weekly (2016). https:// www.dawn.com/news/1279191(accessed 1 January 2023).
- S.S. Amir, and S. Arshad. Enhancing the competitiveness of pakistan's surgical instruments industry. Report PBC/EDB/ SIMAP 1-79 (2022).
- 20. U.A. Mufti. The Surgical Instruments Industry

of Pakistan is World #1 in Production. Report Bussiness/28.04, Economy.pk (2022). https:// www.economy.pk/the-surgical-instrumentsindustry-of-pakistan/ (accessed 1 January 2023).

- 21. C. Berman. Labor standards in Pakistan's surgical instruments sector: a synthesis report. Ethical Trading Initiative (ETI) UK.
- 22. A. Sola, A. Trinchi, and A.J. Hill. Self-assembly meets additive manufacturing: Bridging the gap between nanoscale arrangement of matter and macroscale fabrication. Smart Materials in Manufacturing 1: 100013 (2023).
- 23. M. Armstrong, H. Mehrabi, and N. Naveed. An overview of modern metal additive manufacturing technology. Journal of

Manufacturing Processes 84: 1001-1029 (2022).

- 24. M. Nishal, K.R. Prasad, M.S. Dashageer and A.G. Ragunath. Significance of additive manufacturing amidst the pandemic. Materials Today: Proceedings 72: 2540–2546 (2022).
- D. Cui, and J. Wang. Research on Powder Metallurgy High Nitrogen Stainless Steels. Advanced Materials Research 690-693: 172-175 (2013).
- 26. F. Martín, C. Garcia, Y. Blanco, and M.L. R-Mendez. Influence of sinter-cooling rate on the mechanical properties of powder metallurgy austenitic, ferritic, and duplex stainless steels sintered in vacuum. Materials Science and Engineering: A 642: 360-365 (2015).

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: A Physical and Computational Sciences 60(1): 23-30 (2023) Copyright © Pakistan Academy of Sciences ISSN (Print): 2518-4245; ISSN (Online): 2518-4253 https://doi.org/10.53560/PPASA(60-1)787



Modeling and Robust Fractional Order Fuzzy Sliding Mode Two Time Scale Controller Design for Synchronous Generator of ACP1000 Nuclear Power Plant in LabVIEW

Arshad Habib Malik^{1*}, Feroza Arshad², and Aftab Ahmad Memon³

 ¹Department of Basic Training, Chashma Centre of Nuclear Training, Pakistan Atomic Energy Commission, Chashma, Pakistan
 ²Department of Information System Division, Karachi Nuclear Power Generating Station, Pakistan Atomic Energy Commission, Karachi, Pakistan
 ³Department of Telecommunication Engineering, Mehran University of Engineering and Technology, Jamshoro, Sindh, Pakistan

Abstract: A state-of-the-art higher-order model of a synchronous generator is developed for ACP1000 nuclear power plant in the present research. The model is transformed into state space form. The state space model is decomposed into the two-time-scale framework. Based on the dynamics of the synchronous generator, fast and slow states are identified. The reduced order slow model is identified by neglecting the fast dynamics. A closed-loop model is developed in the frequency domain incorporating coupled and decoupled dynamics as separate transfer functions. The closed-loop model is configured as input-output pairs and two controllers are synthesized using a hybrid fraction order proportional integral derivative sliding surface oriented adaptive fuzzy two-time-scale control algorithm. The simulation model is developed in the graphical programming environment LabVIEW. The open and closed loop dynamics of the synchronous generator is simulated and analyzed in frequency and time domain separately. The proposed closed-loop framework is robust in performance, results are accurate and stable well within robust performance bounds.

Keywords: Synchronous Generator, Fractional Order, Adaptive Fuzzy Logic, Sliding Mode Control, ACP-1000, Nuclear Power Plant, LabVIEW.

1. INTRODUCTION

The synchronous generator of the Advanced Chinese Pressurized Water Reactor (ACP1000) type nuclear power plant is addressed in the present study for modeling, model reduction, control design, analysis and simulation purposes in the LabVIEW environment. The theoretical modeling aspects of the synchronous generator are discussed by Ernesto *et al.* [1]. A real-time experimental facility for synchronous generator is developed and simulation is performed by Helmy *et al.* [2]. A detailed first principle model is developed and simulated by Brazovac *et al.* [3] for the synchronous generator. A large industrial model of a 500 MWe power plant is analyzed and a PI controller is designed for the synchronous generator by Daphadar *et al.* [4]. A large industrial model of a 1000 MWe power plant is analyzed and the PI controller is designed for the synchronous generator by Fodor et al. [5]. Modeling and fault detection for the synchronous generator is performed by Karnavas et al. [6] in LabVIEW. The phase diagram and capacity curve for the synchronous generator is analyzed by Sardar et al. [7] in LabVIEW. Experimental parametric model estimation is performed in the LabVIEW environment by Szabo et al. [8]. A comprehensive model of a synchronous generator is developed and simulated in LabVIEW and its performance is compared with the model developed in MATLAB for a 1000 MWe power plant by Dume [9]. A synchronous generator model is synthesized in a two-time scale framework by Mahmoud [10]. Research is further explored in the area of artificial

Received: September 2022; Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding author: Arshad Habib Malik <engr.dr.arshad.habib.malik@gmail.com>

intelligence. A fuzzy logic controller is designed for synchronous generators by Sumina et al. [11]. The nonlinear sliding mode controller is established for an analytical model of a synchronous generator by Chang and Wen [12]. A nonlinear fractional order controller is designed for synchronous generator by Asadollahi et al. [13]. Further research is addressed for a hybrid fuzzy logic and two-time scale controller design for a robot arm manipulator by Lin and Lewis [14]. An investigation is performed for hybrid fractional order sliding mode controller synthesis for permanent magnet type synchronous generator by Xiong et al. [15]. Research is further expanded for the study of adaptive fractional order sliding mode controller design for the permanent magnet-type synchronous generator by Aghazamani and Delavari [16]. A most modern algorithm is developed for adaptive fractional order sliding mode fuzzy logic switching controllers for uncertain dynamics of the nuclear reactor of ACP1000 nuclear power plant by Malik et al. [17].

In this research work, a novel non-integer hybrid approach is adopted using a state-of-the-art algorithm developed in a graphical programming environment LabVIEW. The proposed algorithm encompasses new fractional order proportional integral derivative sliding surface, intelligent adaptive fuzzy logic and continuous two-time-scale (FO-PIDSMC-AFL-TTS) framework for closedloop dynamics of the synchronous generator of the most sophisticated third-generation ACP1000 nuclear power plant. The proposed framework is the novel algorithm which is designed for the first time in LabVIEW for the nuclear industry.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Synchronous Generator

The generator is a directly driven, three-phase, 50 Hz, 1500 rpm, 4-pole synchronous generator with a Hydrogen-cooled stator core and rotor, and water-cooled stator coils. The generator auxiliary system comprises of sealing oil system, hydrogen and carbon dioxide control system and stator coil cooling water system. The generator is cooled by circulating hydrogen, which transfers heat to hydrogen-cooler. The cold gas is forced to the rotor ventilation channel by the fan, and through the ventilation hole to the stator core around. The stator coil is cooled by water. Cooling water enters from one end of the coil and exits from the other end after absorbing heat. Rotor coils are cooled by the internal axial duct by gas which back to the air gap after absorption heat. The gas flows through the generator and returns to the hydrogen-cooler. The stator is made with an inner frame and outer frame construction.

The generator is equipped with four hydrogen coolers. During installation, the coolers will be lowered into the generator through openings at the top of the generator frame. The magnetic core consists of stacking together cold-rolled, sheet metal magnetic segments with high permeability and low specific losses. The rotor shaft is machined from single steel forging free from injurious flaws and defects. The rotor shaft is mechanically coupled to the turbine. Floating-type retaining rings prevent straining of coil insulation. The retaining rings are made from forged 18Mn18Cr non-magnetic material.

The seal oil system is a double-ring type sealing oil system, used to seal the hydrogen with the frame of the generator, forming a hydrogen seal at the junction of the generator shaft. The seal oil system provides sealing oil to the sealing rings of the generator to prevent the escape of hydrogen from the generator, but also to prevent the outside air and moisture into the generator. The seal oil system ensures the stability of the differential pressure between the generator gas pressure and the seal oil pressure. Hydrogen is the cooling medium of the generator. The hydrogen and carbon dioxide gas system provides means for safely putting hydrogen in or taking hydrogen out of the generator by using carbon dioxide as a scavenging medium to prevent the air and hydrogen mixture and maintaining the gas pressure in the generator at the desired value. Hydrogen and carbon dioxide gas are supplied from the gas storage system. For cooling the generator stator coil by using the cooling water, the heat produced by the generator stator coil is taken away by the circulating high-purity water flowing through the stator hollow conductor (stator cooling water). The circulating high-purity water is cooled by closed-cycle cooling water in a water-water heat exchanger. The stator cooling water system provides circulating high-purity demineralized water to the generator stator coil.

Brushless excitation is adopted for the generator. The system contains an exciter, pilot and AVR (Automatic Voltage Regulator). The AVR contains the voltage regulator function together with limiters and other control circuits. The voltage regulator controls the output voltage of a power converter. The resulting DC voltage is supplied through field suppression equipment to the exciter field.

2.2 Synchronous Generator Modeling

The large-scale industrial synchronous generator is an electro-mechanical system. Various parameters/ symbols and variables used hereafter in the process of synchronous generator modelling are defined as follows:

 α_i = Variable Fraction Orders $D_{t} = Time Derivative$ ω_{m} = Rotor Mechanical Frequency ω_{a} = Electrical Frequency $\tau_{a} = \text{Electrical Torque}$ R = Diagonal Matrix of Winding Resistances L = Symmetric Inductance Matrix $L_m =$ Mutual Inductance between J = Rotor Moment of Inertia I_d = Generator Current d-axis System $I_{a} =$ Generator Current q-axis System $I_{c} = Field Current$ $V_q = q$ -axis Winding Voltage $\varepsilon =$ Separation Parameter S = Sliding Surface K_{n} = Proportional Gain $K_{1} =$ Integral Gain K_{D} = Derivative Gain $K_{SMC} = SMC Gain$ u(t) = Control Input Signal $u^{\rm F}$ = Fractional Order Control Signal F= Fractional FO = Fractional Order PID = Proportional Integral Derivative SMC= Sliding Mode Control AFLC= Adaptive Fuzzy Logic Controller TTS = Two Time Scale $V_1 = Reference Input 1$ $V_2 = Reference Input 2$ $Y_1 = Cross Coupled Controlled Output 1$ $Y_2 = Cross Coupled Controlled Output 2$ G_{11} = Transfer Function of Paired Input 1 and Output 1

 G_{12} = Transfer Function of Paired Input 1 and Output 2

 G_{21} = Transfer Function of Paired Input 2 and Output 1

 G_{22} = Transfer Function of Paired Input 2 and Output 2

Cx = Product of Output Matrix and State Vector

Du = Product of Direct Transmission Matrix and Control Input

Bu = Product of Input Matrix and Control Input

 $X_{f}(t) =$ Fast State Vector

Xs(t) = Slow State Vector

 λ_d = Flux Linkage along *d*-axis

 $\lambda_q =$ Flux Linkage along *q*-axis

 λ_{abf} = Three Phase Flux Linkages in Stationary Frame

- N = Number of Turns
- θ = Rotor Angle
- T = Transpose of Matrix

If α_i are the variable fractional orders of time domain differential operators $D_t^{\alpha_i}$ then the electrical dynamics of the synchronous generator are computed by the two-phase stator model as [3]:

$$D_t^{\alpha_1} \lambda_{abf} = -RL(\theta)^{-1} \lambda_{abf} + V_{abf}$$
(1)

The electrical torque is computed as:

$$\tau_e = D_{\theta}^{\alpha_2} \left(\frac{1}{2} \lambda_{abf}^T L(\theta)^{-1} \lambda_{abf} \right)$$
(2)

The mechanical speed of the rotor is computed as:

$$D_t^{\alpha_3}\omega_m = \frac{1}{J}(\tau_e - B\omega_m) \tag{3}$$

Now, transform the above equations into a synchronous reference frame and the electrical dynamics is computed as [6]:

$$D_t^{\alpha_4} \lambda_d = -\frac{R}{L} \lambda_d + \omega_e \lambda_q + \frac{RL_m}{L} i_f \cos \theta$$
(4)
$$D_t^{\alpha_5} \lambda_q = -\omega_e \lambda_d - \frac{R}{L} \lambda_q - \frac{RL_m}{L} \lambda_q i_f \sin \theta + V_q$$
(5)

$$D_t^{\alpha_6} \theta = \omega_e - \frac{N}{2} \omega_m \tag{6}$$

The output equations are computed as:

$$i_d(t) = \frac{1}{L}\lambda_d - \frac{L_m}{L}i_f \cos\theta \tag{7}$$

$$i_q(t) = \frac{1}{L}\lambda_q + \frac{L_m}{L}i_f \sin\theta$$
(8)

Now, equations (4) to (8) are linearized and transformed into fractional order state-space form as:

$$D_t^{a_i} x(t) = A x(t) + B u(t)$$
(9)

$$y(t) = Cx(t) + Du(t)$$
(10)

2.3 Fractional Order Two-Time Scale Modeling of Synchronous Generator

The electrical dynamics of a synchronous generator are fast while mechanical dynamics are slow. The fast and slow states of fractional order two-time scale state-space model of the synchronous generator are given as:

$$x_f(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_d & \lambda_q & \theta \end{bmatrix}^T \tag{11}$$

$$x_s(t) = [\omega_m] \tag{12}$$

These states are associated with slow and fast subsystem equations responsible for the dynamics of synchronous generators.

The input and output vectors are defined as:

$$u(t) = \begin{bmatrix} I_f & \omega_e \end{bmatrix}^T$$
$$y(t) = \begin{bmatrix} I_d & I_q \end{bmatrix}^T$$

If ε is the separation parameter between the fast and slow sub-systems then the fractional order two-time scale state-space model of synchronous generator is given as:

$$\mathcal{E}D_t^{\alpha_i} x_f(t) = A_{11} x_f(t) + A_{12} x_s(t) + B_1 u(t)$$
(13)

$$D_t^{\alpha_i} x_s(t) = A_{21} x_f(t) + A_{22} x_s(t) + B_2 u(t)$$
(14)

$$y(t) = C_1 x_f(t) + C_2 x_s(t) + Du(t)$$
(15)

If the dynamics of the fast system are neglected then the reduced order slow system is derived as:

$$\begin{bmatrix} I_d(s) \\ I_q(s) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} H_{11} & H_{12} \\ H_{21} & H_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I_f(s) \\ W_e(s) \end{bmatrix}$$
(16)

If $K_{11}(s)$ and $K_{22}(s)$ are two controllers the closed loop dynamics corresponding to diagon input-output pairs as reference input signa output pairs then input-output pairs are derive as:

$$\frac{Y_1(s)}{V_1(s)} = G_{11}(s)_{Decoupled} G_{11}(s)_{Coupled}$$
(17)

$$\frac{Y_1(s)}{V_2(s)} = G_{12}(s)_{Decoupled} G_{12}(s)_{Coupled}$$
(18)

$$\frac{Y_2(s)}{V_1(s)} = G_{21}(s)_{Decoupled} G_{21}(s)_{Coupled}$$
(19)

$$\frac{Y_2(s)}{V_2(s)} = G_{22}(s)_{Decoupled} G_{22}(s)_{Coupled}$$
(20)

2.4 Hybrid Controller Modeling

Now, in this section, a hybrid control algorithm is developed based on fractional order PID sliding surface and adaptive fuzzy logic using the concept of algorithm developed in [18].

The fractional order PID sliding surfaces for $K_{11}(s)$ and $K_{22}(s)$ controllers are designed as:

$$S_{11} = K_{P_{11}}e_1(t) + K_{I_{11}}D_t^{-\alpha_{11}}e_1(t) + K_{D_{11}}D_t^{\alpha_{11}}e_1(t)$$
(21)

$$S_{22} = K_{P_{22}}e_2(t) + K_{I_{22}}D_t^{-\alpha_{22}}e_2(t) + K_{D_{22}}D_t^{\alpha_{22}}e_2(t)$$
(22)

The hybrid fractional order sliding mode adaptive fuzzy two-time scale controllers corresponding to these sliding surfaces are designed based on algorithm formulated in [18] as:

$$u_{11}(t) = u_{eq_{11}}^{F}(t) + K_{SMC_{11}}(D^{\alpha_{11}}e_{1}(t) + u_{AFLC_{11}}e_{1}(t)$$
(23)

$$u_{22}(t) = u_{eq22}^{F}(t) + K_{SMC_{22}}(D^{\alpha_{22}}e_{2}(t) + u_{AFLC_{22}}e_{2}(t)$$
(24)

2.5 Graphical User Interface Development for Model Parameters in LabVIEW

The state space model of the synchronous generator is constructed by inputting model

generator is constructed by inputting model parameters using a graphical user interface (GUI) developed in LabVIEW. The GUI for the design parameters of the synchronous generator is shown in Figure 1 while, the symbolic representation of state space model matrices is shown in Figures 2 and 3.



Fig. 1. GUI for design parameters of synchronous generator



Fig. 2. Symbolic representation of linear model state space matrices A and B



Fig. 3. Symbolic representation of linear model state space matrices C and D

2.6 Synthesis of Reduced Order Synchronous Generator Model

Now, in this section, the reduced order synchronous generator model is developed using equations (9) to (16). The synthesized automated model is developed in LabVIEW as shown in Figures 4 and 5.



Fig. 4. Symbolic representation of reduced order transfer function elements H_{11} and H_{12}



Fig. 5. Symbolic representation of reduced order transfer function elements H_{21} and H_{22}

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The design, analysis and simulation of synchronous generator is carried out in open loop and closed loop. The design analysis and performance evaluation is carried out in frequency domain and time domain in order to assess the robustness of synthesized model.

3.1.Evaluation of Synthesized Open Loop Framework in Frequency Domain

The reduced order model developed for synchronous generator as shown in Figures 4 and 5 is used for the open loop analysis of transfer function elements in the frequency domain using a Bode plot.

The magnitude and phase plots are designed and analyzed for transfer function elements in LabVIEW as shown in Figures 6 and 7. The frequency response proves that open loop reducedorder dynamics are guaranteed stable as there is not any unstable pole in the transfer functions.



Fig. 6. Open loop frequency response of reduced order system H_{11} and H_{12}



Fig. 7. Open loop frequency response of reduced order system H_{21} and H_{22}

3.2. Evaluation of Synthesized Closed Loop Framework in Frequency Domain

The input-output pairs are configured through a reduced order model with controllers $K_{11}(s)$ and $K_{22}(s)$ as shown in Figure 8. The reduced order model developed for the synchronous generator as shown in Figures 4 and 5 is used for the closed-loop analysis of transfer function elements in the frequency domain using a Bode plot. The magnitude and phase plots are designed and analyzed for transfer function elements in LabVIEW as shown in Figures 9 and 10.

3.3. Evaluation of Synthesized Closed Loop Framework in the Time Domain

The input-output pairs are configured in a closedloop time domain. The time domain dynamics of internal states are shown in Figure 11. The dynamics of mechanical frequency due to slow and fast subsystems are shown in Figures 12 and 13. Now, the closed-loop dynamics of the full-order system are analyzed and the behaviour of output parameters is shown in Figure 14. The output parameters are



Fig. 8. Closed loop framework of FO-PIDSMC-AFL-TTS control system



Fig. 9. Closed loop frequency response of decoupled system Y_1V_1 and Y_1V_2



Fig. 10. Closed loop frequency response of decoupled system Y_2V_1 and Y_2V_2



Fig. 11. Time response dynamics of internal states



Fig. 12. Time response of mechanical frequency due to slow subsystem



Fig. 13. Time response of mechanical frequency due to fast subsystem

visualized on a per-unit scale.

The inter-comparison of linear, linear fast and nonlinear model responses is assessed in Figure 15 and it is observed that the dynamics of Id due to the fast system model are fastest and nonlinear and fast linear model dynamics have almost no steady-state error.

The optimized design parameters of model and controllers' framework are obtained using Particle Swam Optimization (PSO) method. The optimized parameters are tabulated in Table 1.

4. CONCLUSION

The synchronous generator is the main electrical equipment on the conventional side of the ACP1000



Fig. 14. Closed loop step response of full order feedback model



Fig. 15. Closed loop step response comparison of different system models

Table	1.	Optimal	design	parameters	of	model	and
control	llers	5					

Optimal design parameters	Design values
α,	0.91
α_4	1.12
α ₅	1.22
α_6	0.98
α ₁₁	1.40
a ₂₂	1.35
K	1.7
K	3.4
N _{SMC22} Number of membership functions for $K_{11}(s)$	14
Number of membership functions for $K_{22}(s)$	18
Scalar design parameters of $K_{11}(s)$	28
Scalar design parameters of $K_{22}(s)$	36

nuclear power plant. A higher order two-timescale state-space model of synchronous generator is developed in this research work. The stiff twotime-scale model is bifurcated into slow and fast sub-systems. Model reduction is accomplished using a time-scale design philosophy. Two separate controllers are designed for input-output pairs. Controllers are designed using a novel hybrid control design algorithm based on non-linear noninteger sliding mode and intelligent fuzzy logic for a two-time-scale framework in LabVIEW. The design approach is the first step towards two-timescale and multi-time-scale dynamics of ACP1000 nuclear power plant systems.

5. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The support of the Pakistan Atomic Energy Commission, Chashma Centre of Nuclear Training and Information Support Division of KNPGS is gratefully acknowledged.

6. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

7. REFERENCES

- C. Ernesto, U. Loo, L. Vanfretti, E.L. Castro, and E. Acha. Synchronous generators modeling and control using the framework of individual channel analysis and design. International Journal of Emerging Electric Power Systems 08 (05): 1-26 (2007).
- 2. S. Helmy, A.S. El-Wakeel, M.A. Rahman, and M.A.L. Badr. Real-time modeling and control of

synchronous generator based on PC. *The Online Journal on Electronics and Electrical Engineering* 10 (07): 1-5 (2009).

- M. Brazovac, I. Kuzle, and M. krpan. Detailed mathematical and simulation model of a synchronous generator. *Journal of Energy* 64: 102-129 (2015).
- T.S. Daphadar, S.C. Konar, and N.N. Jana. Modelling and control of a 500 MW power system. *International Journal of Advanced Research in Electrical, Electronics and Instrumentation Engineering* 02 (12): 6147-6153 (2013).
- A. Fodor, A. Magyar, and K.M. Hangos. Dynamic modeling and model analysis of a large industrial synchronous generator. *International Conference on Applied Electronics*, 8-9 September, Pilsen Czech Republic (2010).
- 6. Y.L. Karnavas, and E.I. Lygouras. Synchronous machine analysis and modelling in LabVIEW. *International Journal of Electrical Engineering Education* 0 (0): 1-128 (2018).
- M.U. Sardar. Synchronous generator simulation using LabVIEW. World Academy of Science 39: 392-400 (2008).
- S. Szabo, K.A. Biro, V. Barz, and H.C. Hedesiu. Parameter estimation of synchronous machine by means of LabVIEW environment. *Technical Report* of Electrical Machines Department, Technical University of Cluj, Romania (1998).
- G. Dume. Synchronous generator model based on LabVIEW software. WSEAS Transactions on Advances in Engineering Education 10 (02): 101-112 (2013).
- 10. M.S. Mahmoud. Iterative time-scale separation of

synchronous machines. *Applied Math Modeling* 11: 133-140 (1987).

- D. Sumina, T. Idzotic, and I. Erceg. Fuzzy logic control of synchronous generator under the condition of transient three phase short circuit. *International power electronics and motion control conference, Portoroz, Slovenia* 30 August-01 September: 1512-1516 (2006).
- Y. Chang, and C. Wen. Sliding mode control for synchronous generator. *ISRN Applied Mathematics* 3: 1-7 (2014).
- M. Asadollahi, A.R. Ghiasi, and H. Dehghani. Excitation control of a synchronous generator using a novel fractional-order controller. *The Institute of Engineering and Technology Journal* 09 (15): 2255-2260 (2015).
- J. Lin, and F.L. Lewis. Two-time scale fuzzy logic controller of flexible link robot arm. *Fuzzy Sets and Systems* 139 (03): 125-149 (2003).
- L. Xiong, P. Li, M. Ma, Z. Wang, and J. Wang. Output power quality enhancement of PMSG with fractional order sliding mode control. *Electrical Power and Energy Systems* 115: 105402 (2020).
- A.M. Aghazamani, and H. Delavari. Adaptive fractional order sliding mode control for PMSG with disturbance observer. *Tabriz Journal of Electrical Engineering* 50 (03): 1-12 (2022).
- A.H. Malik, A.A. Memon, and F. Arshad. Design of fractional order sliding mode adaptive fuzzy switching controllers for uncertain ACP1000 nuclear reactor dynamics. *Proceedings of Pakistan Academy* of Sciences-A: Physical and Computational Sciences 59 (02): 15-28 (2022).



An Efficient Class of Repeated Measurements Designs to Control the Residual Effects Using Periods of Three Different Sizes

Javid Shabbir^{1*}, Hafiz Muhammad Kashif Rasheed², Khadija Noreen², Abid Khan², Muhammad Adnan Ghani², and Rashid Ahmed²

¹Department of Statistics, University of Wah, Wah Cantt, Pakistan ²Department of Statistics, The Islamia University of Bahawalpur, Pakistan

Abstract: Repeated measurements designs (RMDs) are always economical but with the use of these designs, there may arise residual effects. Minimal strongly balanced RMDs are well known to estimate the treatment effects and residual effects independently. In the situation, where these designs cannot be constructed, minimal nearly strongly balanced RMDs are used which is an efficient class of RMDs to control the residual effects. In this article, efficient minimal circular nearly strongly balanced RMDs are constructed in periods of three different sizes.

Key Words: Repeated Measurements Design, Carry Over Effects, Residual Effects, Strongly Balanced RMDs, Minimal Designs.

1. INTRODUCTION

Repeated designs (RMDs) measurements are popular in experiments of psychology, pharmacology, medicine, and animal sciences, but residual effects may arise in RMDs. Effect which a treatment has during its period of application (treatment effect) may persist into the preceding period. Such effect is called residual effect or carry over effect. Balanced or strongly balanced RMDs control these effects efficiently. RMD is minimal balanced (MBRMD) with respect to the residual effects if each treatment is immediately preceded once by all other treatments (excluding itself). RMD is minimal strongly balanced (MSBRMD) if each treatment is immediately preceded once by all other treatments (including itself). Using method of cyclic shifts, minimal circular strongly balanced RMDs (MCSBRMDs) can only be constructed through its Rule I which provides constructions of these designs for some specific cases of number of treatments (v) and period size (p). For most of the remaining cases, Rule II provides construction of minimal circular nearly strongly balanced RMDs

(MCNSBRMDs). If each treatment is immediately preceded once with all other treatments (including itself) except *v*-1 which is not preceded with itself then it is MCNSBRMD. If experimental subjects are human or animals, they may die or recover during the experiments. In such cases, proposed designs should be used in unequal period sizes.

Williams [1-2] constructed MBRMDs for veven with p = v, where p is the period size and v is the number of treatments. Pearce [3] used RMDs in experiments in biology. The application of RMDs with unequal period sizes in experiments of industry and agriculture was described by the Kageyman [4]. Magda [5] gave the idea of a circular balanced RMD (CBRMD). Constantine and Hedayat [6], and Afsarinejad [7-8] constructed MBRMDs for p < v. Afsarinejad [9] also introduced a simple method to obtain MBRMDs and MSBRMDs in periods of unequal sizes. Using cyclic shifts, Iqbal and Jones [10], and Sharma et al. [11] constructed efficient RMDs in equal and two distinct periods. Iqbal and Tahir [12,14], and Sharma et al. [13] presented some CSBRMDs through cyclic shifts. Bailey et al. [15]

Received: January 2023; Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding author: Javid Shabbir <javidshabbir@gmail.com>

constructed universally optimal weakly balanced RMDs for p = v. Bashir *et al.* [16], and Rajab *et* al. [17] generated some CBRMDs in equal period sizes. Rasheed et al. [18] generated MCSBRMDs for even p_1 , $3 \le p_2 \le 10$ and $2 \le p_2 \le 9$. Daniyal *et* al. [19], Ahmed et al. [20], and Rasheed et al. [21] constructed some MCSBRMDs. Khan et al. [22] generated some minimal circular weakly BRMDs in equal period sizes. Some infinite series of minimal circular strongly partially BRMDs are developed by Jabeen et al. [23]. Using Rule I, recently, Rasheed et al. [24] constructed MCNSBRMDs in periods of three different sizes with smallest of size two. MCNSBRMDs are efficient designs but these are not available for $p_3 = 3$. Construction of MCNSBRMDs in three distinct period sizes with smallest of size three will be an innovational work. In this article, therefore, MCNSBRMDs are constructed in periods of three different sizes for $v \leq$ 100, $4 \le p_1 \text{ (odd)} \le 9$, $4 \le p_2 \le 8$ and $p_3 = 3$.

Our proposed designs are highly efficient (i) to estimate the residual effects and treatment effects independently, (ii) to control the residual effects. Proposed designs have their application in the field of medicine, agriculture and animal sciences.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

Procedures are explained to find the efficiency for residual effects and efficiency of separability in the following sections.

2.1 Efficiency for Residual Effects

The canonical efficiency factors are the harmonic mean of non-zero Eigen values of their respective C^{*} (information matrix) are expressed by James and Wilkinson [25], and Pearce *et al.* [26]. Design possessing high value of E_r will be efficient to estimate the residual effects.

2.2 Efficiency of Separability (ES)

The following relation is given by Divecha and Gondaliya [27] for Es.

$$Es = \left[1 - \left\{\frac{(l_1 + 4l_2)v - (l_1 + 2l_2)^2}{(v - 1)(l_1 + 2l_2)^2}\right\}^{\frac{1}{2}}\right] \times 100\%,$$

where

 l_1 : No. of treatments preceded once by other treatment.

 l_2 : No. of treatments preceded twice by other treatment.

3. CONSTRUCTION OF EFFICIENT MCNSBRMDS IN THREE DISTINCT PERIOD SIZES

In this Section, using the method of cyclic shifts (Rule II) introduced by Iqbal [28], MCNSBRMDs are constructed from the following sets of shifts in three distinct period sizes for v = ri+s+2, here $p_1 = r$ (odd), $p_2 = s$, and $p_3 = 3$. In these designs, only one pair (v-1, v-1) do not appear while all others appear once which means v-1 does not appear as its own preceded treatment.

$$S_{u} = [q_{u1}, q_{u2}, ..., q_{u(r-1)}]; \qquad u = 1, 2, ..., i.$$

$$S_{u+1} = [q_{(u+1)1}, q_{(u+1)2}, ..., q_{(u+1)(s-1)}],$$

$$S_{u+2} = [q_{(u+2)1}]t.$$

Here,

- - 1

• Each element of sets lies between 0 and *v*-2.

• In S*, all of 0, 1, 2, ..., *v*-2 appear once.

Here, S^* contains (i) each element of all sets, (ii) complement of the sum of elements in each set except the last set with single element, where complement of 'a' is *v*-1-a.

Example 3.1: $S_1 = [1, 2, 3, 4]$, $S_2 = [6, 7, 8]$ and $S_3 = [5]t$ provides following MCNSBRMD for v = 11 in $p_1 = 5$, $p_2 = 4$ and $p_3 = 3$.

Here, $S^* = [1, 2, 3, 4, 0, 6, 7, 8, 9, 5]$ contains each of 0, 1,...,9 exactly once. Hence given sets of shifts provide MCNSBRMD. The complete design is obtained through Rule II from the given sets of shifts in the following manners, see Table 1, 2, and 3.

Table 1: Blocks generated from $S_1 = [1, 2, 3, 4]$

D · 1					S	ubjec	ets			
Periods	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	0
3	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	0	1	2
4	6	7	8	9	0	1	2	3	4	5
5	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9

Periods					Sub	jects				
	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20
1	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
2	6	7	8	9	0	1	2	3	4	5
3	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	0	1	2
4	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	0

Table 2: Blocks generated from $S_2 = [6, 7, 8]$

Table 3: Blocks generated from $S_3 = [5]t$

Periods					Sub	jects				
	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30
1	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
2	5	6	7	8	9	0	1	2	3	4
3	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10

Tables 1, 2, & 3 jointly present the MCNSBND for v = 11 in $p_1 = 5$, $p_2 = 4$ and $p_3 = 3$.

Catalogues of MCNSBRMDs are presented in Appendix for $v \le 100$, $5 \le p_1 \le 9$, $4 \le p_2 \le 8$ and $p_3 = 3$.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

To estimate the treatment and residual effects independently, MCSBRMDs are 100 % effective but these are not available for all combinations of v and p. Our proposed MCNSBRMDs have at least (i) 97 percent efficiency of Separability, making them the best alternatives to MCSBRMDs for independently estimating residual effects and treatment effects, and (ii) 81 percent efficiency of residual effects. As a future work, a catalogue of efficient MCNSBRMDs will be constructed in three distinct sizes with $p_3 > 3$.

5. CONCLUSION

In the present study, minimal circular nearly strongly balanced RMDs (MCNSBRMDs) have been constructed to control the residual effects. These designs are the best alternatives of minimal circular strongly balanced RMDs (MCSBRMDs) which are useful in the field of medical, agriculture and animal sciences.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors are appreciative of the reviewers' corrections and suggestions.

7. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

8. REFERENCES

- 1. E.R. Williams. Experimental designs balanced for the estimation of residual effects of treatments. *Australian Journal of Science Research A* 2: 149-168 (1949).
- 2. E.R. Williams. Experimental designs balanced for pairs of residual effects. *Australian Journal of Science Research*, A 3: 351-363 (1950).
- 3. S.C. Pearce. Experimenting with blocks of natural size. *Biometrics* 18: 699-706 (1964).
- 4. S. Kageyman. Construction of balanced block designs. *Utilitas Mathematica* 9: 209-229 (1976).
- C.G. Magda. Circular balanced repeated measurements designs. Communications in Statistics-Theory and Methods 9: 1901-1918 (1980).
- G. Constantine, and A. Hedayat. A construction of repeated measurements designs balance for residual effects. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference* 6: 153-164 (1982).
- K. Afsarinejad. Circular balanced uniform repeated measurements designs. *Statistics and Probability Letters* 7: 187-189 (1989).
- K. Afsarinejad. Circular balanced uniform repeated measurements designs, II. *Statistics and Probability Letters* 9: 141-143 (1990).
- 9. K. Afsarinejad. Repeated measurements designs with unequal periods sizes. *Journal of the Italian Statistical Society* 2: 161-168 (1994).
- I. Iqbal, and B. Jones. Efficient repeated measurements designs with equal and unequal period sizes. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference* 42: 79-88 (1994).
- V.K. Sharma, S. Jaggi, and C. Varghese. Minimal balanced repeated measurements designs. *Journal* of *Applied Statistics* 30: 867–872 (2003).
- I. Iqbal, and M.H. Tahir. Circular strongly balanced repeated measurements designs. *Communications in Statistics-Theory and Methods* 38: 3686-3696 (2009).
- V.K. Sharma, Y. Gharde, and C. Varghese. Minimal strongly balanced changeover designs with first residuals. *African Journal of Mathematics and Computer Science Research* 3(9): 195-198 (2010).
- I. Iqbal, M.H. Tahir, and S.S. A. Ghazali. Circular first-and second-order balanced repeated measurements designs. *Communications in Statistics-Theory and Methods* 39: 228-240 (2010).
- R.A. Bailey, P.J. Cemron, K. Fillipiak, J. Kunert, and A. Markiewicz. On optimality and construction of circular repeated measurements designs. *Statistica Sinica* 27: 1-22 (2017).

- Z. Bashir, R. Ahmed, M.H. Tahir, S.S.A. Ghazali, and F. Shehzad. Some extensions of circular balanced and circular strongly balanced repeated measurements designs. *Communications in Statistics - Theory and Methods* 47(9): 2183-2194 (2018).
- M. Rajab, R. Ahmed, F. Shehzad, and M.H. Tahir. Some new constructions of circular balanced repeated measurements designs. *Communications in Statistics -Theory and Methods* 47(17): 4142-4152 (2018).
- U. Rasheed, H.M.K. Rasheed, M. Rasheed, and R. Ahmed. Minimal circular strongly balanced repeated measurements designs in periods of three different sizes. *Communications in Statistics -Theory and Methods* 47(16): 4088-4094 (2018).
- M. Daniyal, R. Ahmed, F. Shehzad, M.H. Tahir, and Z. Iqbal. Construction of repeated measurements designs strongly balanced for residual effects. *Communications in Statistics-Theory and Methods* 49(17): 4288-4297 (2020).
- R. Ahmed, F. Shehzad, M. Rajab, M. Daniyal, and M.H. Tahir. Minimal circular balanced repeated measurements designs in periods of unequal sizes. *Communications in Statistics-Theory and Methods* 48(21): 5223-5232 (2019).
- H.M.K. Rasheed, M. Rasul, R. Ahmed, M. Batool, M.H. Tahir, and F. Shehzad. Circular balanced repeated measurement designs in periods of three different sizes. *Communications in Statistics-Simulation and Computation* 48(10): 3022-3030

(2019).

- A. Khan, R. Ahmed, F. Shehzad, M.H. Tahir, and S.S.A. Ghazali. Construction of circular partiallybalanced repeated measurement designs using cyclic shifts. *Communications in Statistics-Simulation and* Computation 48(2): 506-515 (2019).
- R. Jabeen, H.M.K. Rasheed, R. Ahmed, and F. Shehzad. Construction of circular strongly partiallybalanced repeated measurements designs. Journal of King Saud University- Science 31: 345-351 (2019).
- H.M.K. Rasheed, H. Khan, R. Ahmed, and F. Jamal. Minimal circular nearly strongly balanced repeated measurements designs in unequal period sizes. Proceedings of Pakistan Academy of Sciences 58(4): 49-59 (2022).
- 25. A.T. James, and G.N. Wilkinson. Factorization of the residual operator and canonical decomposition of non-orthogonal factors in the analysis of variance. Biometrika 58: 258-294 (1971).
- S.C. Pearce, T. Calinski, and T.F. de C. Marshall. The basic contrasts of an experimental design with special reference to the analysis of data. Biometrika 61: 449-460 (1974).
- J. Divecha, and J. Gondaliya. Construction of minimal balanced crossover designs having good efficiency of separability. Electronic Journal of Statistics 8: 2923-2936 (2014).
- I. Iqbal. Construction of experimental designs using cyclic shifts. Unpublished Ph.D Thesis. U.K: University of Kent at Canterbury (1991).

APPENDİX

v	p .	<i>p</i> .	<i>p</i> .	Sets of Shifts	Es	Er
11	5	4	3	[1.2,3,4]+[6,7,8]+[5]t	0.97	0.87
21	5	4	3	[12,2,3,4]+[5,7,9,8]+[15,1,13,14]+[16,6,18]+[10]t	0.98	0.83
31	5	4	3	[1,2,3,4]+[13,7,8,18]+[11,12,6,5]+[16,17,9,19]+[21,22,23,24]+ [10,27,28]+[15]t	0.99	0.82
41	5	4	3	[1,2,3,12]+[19,6,7,8]+[26,4,9,5]+[15,16,17,18]+[21,13,23,24]+ [11,27,28,2 9]+[30,31,32,33]+[35,37,38]+[20]t	0.99	0.82
51	5	4	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4]+[5,6,7,8]+[10,11,48,22]+[16,17,18,19]+\\ [13,21,23,14]+[26,27,28,20]+[36,32,33,34]+[42,37,38,39]+\\ [41,35,43,31]+[45,46,47]+[25]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.81
61	5	4	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,5]+[4,7,8,10]+[11,12,13,15]+[14,17,18,20]+\\ [19,32,23,24]+[26,58,28,29]+[6,48,33,34]+[45,37,25,38]+ \ [50,47,43,44]+[\\ 40,42,21,41]+[16,57,53,54]+[46,52,27]+[30]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.81
71	5	4	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [11,18,3,48] + [6,7,8,9] + [20,38,13,14] + [16,17,2,1] + \\ [21,22,23,24] + [25,27,28,29] + [26,61,33,15] + [36,37,49,19] \\ + \\ [30,42,43,44] + [45,46,47,68] + [41,52,53,54] + [39,56,57,58] + \\ [32,62,63,64] + [65,66,67] + [35]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.81
81	5	4	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4]+[5,7,8,9]+[56,17,13,14]+[15,16,18,19]+\\ [34,39,23,35]+[26,27,33,49]+[31,38,47,48]+[24,36,37,41]+\\ [32,42,43,44]+[46,28,21,20]+[65,52,53,64]+[11,57,58,59]+\\ [61,62,63,54]+[66,67,68,69]+[71,72,73,74]+[75,77,78]+[40]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.81
91	5	4	3	$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	0.99	0.81
13	7	4	3	[1,3,2,4,5,9]+[7,8,11]+[6]t	0.97	0.90
27	7	4	3	[1,2,3,4,5,11]+[9,8,10,14,25,20]+[6,16,15,17,19,24]+ [21,22,23]+[13]t	0.99	0.88
41	7	4	3	$ [1,2,3,4,5,25] + [7,8,9,10,11,12] + [15,16,17,18,19,39] + \\ [34,22,13,6,26,27] + [28,29,30,31,24,37] + [14,33,38] + [20]t $	0.99	0.87
55	7	4	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,39] + [8,9,48,11,12,13] + [14,15,17,18,37,19] + \\ [21,23,24,25,26,53] + [47,43,31,32,33,34] + [35,36,20,38,40,41] + \\ [16,30,22,45,46,29] + [10,51,52] + [27]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.87
69	7	4	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6] + [7,8,9,10,11,25] + [14,15,16,17,18,19] + \\ [22,23,13,24,26,29] + [28,20,31,32,21,33] + [30,36,38,27,40,41] + \\ [42,43,44,45,46,52] + [49,50,51,48,53,54] + [57,58,59,55,61,62] + \\ [63,64,65] + [34]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.86
83	7	4	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6]+[7,9,10,11,12,13]+[14,15,16,17,18,19]+\\ [60,23,24,25,26,54]+[29,42,31,32,33,81]+[35,36,37,51,39,27]+\\ [43,44,45,46,47,48]+[28,38,52,53,30,77]+[56,57,58,59,22,76]+\\ [63,64,8,66,67,68]+[70,71,72,73,69,75]+[40,78,79]+[41]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.86
97	7	4	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6] + [7,8,9,11,12,53] + [15,16,17,18,19,52] + \\ [21,22,23,24,25,50] + [29,30,60,32,49,34] + [35,37,38,39,14,41] + \\ [43,44,45,46,47,95] + [33,26,36,20,69,76] + [56,57,58,59,61,62] + \\ [63,42,65,66,67,68] + [70,71,72,73,74,80] + [77,78,79,81,82,83] + \\ [85,86,87,88,89,90] + [91,93,94] + [48]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.86
15	9	4	3	[3,2,1,4,6,5,8,13]+[10,11,12]+[7]t	0.98	0.91

MCNSBRMDs for $v \le 100$, $5 \le p_1$ (odd) ≤ 9 , $4 \le p_2 \le 8$ and $p_3 = 3$, where $p_1 > p_2$.

v	<i>p</i> ₁	p_2	<i>p</i> ₃	Sets of Shifts	Es	Er
33	9	4	3	[1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8]+[10,11,12,13,14,21,30,17]+ [19,20,15,22,23,24,25,26]+[27,29,31]+[16]t	0.99	0.90
51	9	4	3	[1,2,3,4,5,6,7,22]+[10,11,48,21,14,28,16,17]+ [18,19,20,13,8,23,24,49]+[27,15,29,30,31,32,33,44]+ [36,38,37,40,39,41,42,43]+[45,46,47]+[25]t	0.99	0.90
59	9	4	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6,7,40] + [9,10,11,12,13,14,15,16] + \\ [18,19,20,21,22,23,24,25] + [28,29,30,31,26,33,67,35] + \\ [48,37,38,39,41,42,43,44] + [46,47,49,66,62,51,52,58] + \\ [54,55,56,57,53,64,60,50] + [63,59,65] + [34]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.87
37	9	4	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8]+[9,10,11,12,13,14,15,16]+\\ [18,19,21,22,23,24,25,26]+[44,28,29,31,32,33,34,35]+\\ [81,37,38,39,40,41,42,85]+[45,46,47,48,49,83,52,60]+\\ [54,56,55,57,58,59,53,61]+[62,64,65,66,67,68,69,70]+\\ [36,73,82,75,76,77,79,84]+[17,74,50]+[43]t \end{array} $	0.97	0.89
21	7	5	3	[1,2,3,4,5,6]+[7,8,9,11,12,13]+[15,16,17,18]+[10]t	0.98	0.66
\$5	7	5	3	[1,2,3,4,5,6]+[7,8,9,21,11,12]+[15,30,33,26,19,20]+ $[22,23,24,25,18,14]+[29,16,31,32]+[17]t$	0.99	0.87
49	7	5	3	$ [1,2,3,4,5,6] + [8,9,10,11,12,13] + [15,16,18,17,19,20] + [22,23,47,25,26,28] + \\ [44,45,31,32,7,35] + [36,37,38,14,40,41] + [42,43,29,30] + [24]t $	0.99	0.87
53	7	5	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6] + [8,9,10,11,12,13] + [15,16,18,17,19,25] + \ [22,23,24,20,26,27] + \\ [29,30,55,32,34,40] + \ [36,37,38,39,56,7] + [42,43,21,45,46,51] + \ [58,47,52,5] \\ 3,54,48] + [57,50,59,49] + [31]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.87
7	7	5	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6]+[14,9,10,11,12,13]+[15,28,30,40,19,74]+ \ [41,23,24,25,26,27]\\ +[29,37,47,32,33,34]+ \ [36,17,75,39,18,8]+[43,44,45,46,31,53]+ \ [49,50,51\\ ,52,48,54]+[57,58,59,60,61,21]+ \ [56,65,66,67,70,69]+[71,72,73,20]+[38]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.87
91	7	5	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6] + [8,70,10,11,12,13] + [27,36,17,18,19,20] + \ [22,23,28,25,26,35] \\ + [29,63,31,32,33,58] + \\ [16,37,38,39,84,41] + [52,44,89,46,47,40] + \ [50,51,49,53,54,55] + [77,59,34, \\ 60,61,62] + \\ [30,64,65,66,67,68] + [71,72,73,74,75,76] + \\ [78,79,80,81,82,83] + [85,86,87,88] + [45]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.84
25	9	5	3	[1,3,2,16,5,6,7,8]+[10,11,23,13,18,15,4,17]+ [19,20,21,22]+[12]t	0.99	0.91
43	9	5	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6,7,14] + [9,11,12,13,8,15,17,16] + \\ [18,19,20,41,22,23,24,33] + [28,29,39,31,32,26,34,35] + \\ [36,37,38,30] + [21]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.90
51	9	5	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8]+[10,11,12,13,15,14,16,20]+ \\ [18,17,19,21,22,25,23,35]+[54,58,29,59,31,32,33,38]+ \\ [37,39,34,40,41,42,43,48]+[46,47,44,49,50,51,52,53]+ \\ [27,55,56,57]+[30]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.90
79	9	5	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8]+[10,11,12,13,14,15,16,17]+\\ [19,56,21,22,23,24,25,26]+[27,29,28,30,31,32,34,35]+\\ [36,37,38,77,74,41,43,44]+[62,9,47,49,73,51,52,54]+\\ [53,55,20,57,58,59,61,60]+[72,50,65,33,67,68,69,76]+\\ [63,64,40,75]+[39]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.89
97	9	5	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,15,88,5,6,7,8]+[9,10,11,12,13,14,3,28]+\\ [34,78,21,22,23,24,25,26]+[16,29,71,31,44,33,18,19]+\\ [36,37,38,39,64,53,42,43]+[46,47,95,49,87,63,52,41]+\\ [51,55,56,57,58,90,61,74]+[80,40,65,66,67,68,69,76]+\\ [20,4,86,75,54,77,30,79]+[82,83,84,85,62,50,73,72]+\\ [91,17,93,94]+[48]t \end{array} $	0.97	0.89

v	<i>p</i> ₁	<i>p</i> ₂	<i>p</i> ₃	Sets of Shifts	Es	Er
15	7	6	3	[2,1,3,4,5,13]+[9,8,10,11,12]+[7]t	0.98	0.91
29	7	6	3	[1,2,3,4,5,6]+[8,9,10,11,12,13]+[27,15,16,17,18,19]+ [20,22,23,24,25]+[14]t	0.99	0.88
43	7	6	3	[1,2,24,4,5,6]+[7,8,10,11,12,13]+[14,15,16,17,18,19]+ [29,9,3,25,26,35]+[30,22,31,32,33,34]+[36,37,38,39,40]+[21]t	0.99	0.87
57	7	6	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6] + [8,9,10,11,12,13] + [14,15,16,17,18,25] + \\ [22,23,24,19,26,33] + [48,37,47,32,27,34] + [36,30,38,39,40,41] + \\ [42,43,44,45,46,31] + [50,51,52,53,54] + [28]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.87
71	7	6	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6] + [8,9,10,11,12,13] + [16,14,17,18,19,20] + \\ [52,62,24,25,26,27] + [22,30,31,32,33,34] + [15,37,38,39,40,42] + \\ [41,61,44,46,47,56] + [50,51,29,53,54,43] + [48,57,58,59,60,45] + \\ [21,65,66,67,68] + [35]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.87
85	7	6	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6] + [21,8,9,11,12,46] + [14,16,17,18,20,19] + \\ [22,80,24,25,26,27] + [29,65,31,32,33,34] + [62,37,38,43,39,41] + \\ [50,44,45,13,47,54] + [7,49,40,51,52,53] + [57,58,59,60,10,36] + \\ [55,15,30,66,67,68] + [70,71,72,73,74,75] + [78,79,23,81,82] + [42]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.87
99	7	6	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6]+[8,9,10,11,12,13]+[14,15,16,17,18,19]+\\ [23,29,24,25,26,27]+[62,30,31,89,33,57]+[36,37,38,39,40,41]+\\ [43,44,45,46,47,48]+[56,51,52,53,54,55]+[34,58,59,60,61,22]+\\ [64,65,66,67,68,69]+[72,70,73,74,75,76]+[0,78,79,81,82,83]+\\ [85,86,87,88,32,28]+[92,93,94,95,96]+[49]t \end{array}$	0.97	0.84
17	9	6	3	[1,2,3,4,5,6,7,12]+[10,11,7,13,14]+[8]t	0.88	.99
35	9	6	3	[1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8]+[10,11,12,13,14,15,33,19]+ [18,20,16,30,42,22,23,26]+[27,28,29,21,31]+[17]t	0.94	0.90
53	9	6	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8]+[9,10,11,12,13,14,15,20]+\\ [34,17,21,22,23,32,25,51]+[27,50,30,31,24,33,18,19]+\\ [37,38,39,40,41,42,43,48]+[45,46,47,44,49]+[26]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.90
71	9	6	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8]+[9,10,12,11,13,14,15,16]+\\ [19,20,21,22,23,24,25,38]+[53,28,29,62,31,32,46,69]+\\ [37,26,39,17,66,42,43,44]+[45,33,47,48,49,68,51,52]+\\ [54,55,56,57,59,58,60,61]+[63,64,65,41,67]+[35]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.90
89	9	6	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8]+[9,11,12,13,14,15,16,17]+\\ [18,19,21,22,23,24,25,26]+[28,29,30,31,32,33,34,48]+\\ [36,37,38,39,40,41,27,43]+[80,46,47,35,49,78,42,53]+\\ [55,56,57,58,59,60,61,68]+[63,64,65,66,67,62,70,71]+\\ [20,85,82,75,76,77,50,79]+[81,74,83,84,73]+[44]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.90
27	9	7	3	[1,2,3,5,4,6,7,8]+[24,10,11,12,25,14,15,19]+ [18,17,20,21,22,23]+[13]t	0.99	0.92
45	9	7	3	[1,3,43,4,5,6,7,8]+[2,9,12,13,14,15,16,17]+ [19,20,18,21,24,23,25,26]+[28,29,27,39,31,33,32,35]+ [37,38,30,40,41,42]+[22]t	0.99	0.90
63	9	7	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8]+[9,10,11,12,13,61,15,38]+\\ [18,19,20,21,22,23,24,25]+[27,28,29,30,32,33,34,35]+\\ [36,57,60,55,56,41,42,43]+[45,46,48,49,50,51,52,53]+\\ [39,54,47,37,58,59]+[31]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.81
81	9	7	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8]+[50,11,12,53,14,15,16,17]+\\ [19,67,21,22,23,24,25,26]+[28,29,30,72,32,33,34,35]+\\ [37,38,39,79,41,42,43,45]+[46,47,48,49,10,51,9,60]+\\ [55,56,57,58,59,18,61,62]+[64,65,66,20,68,69,74,71]+\\ [73,70,75,76,77,78]+[40]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.90

v	<i>p</i> ₁	<i>p</i> ₂	<i>p</i> ₃	Sets of Shifts	Es	Er
99	9	7	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8]+[10,11,12,13,14,15,18,17]+\\ [19,20,21,23,22,24,25,26]+[28,39,30,71,32,33,34,35]+\\ [36,37,38,61,40,41,42,53]+[46,47,48,97,50,51,52,54]+\\ [43,57,55,58,59,60,29,31]+[63,64,65,66,67,69,70,56]+\\ [72,73,74,76,75,77,78,79]+[81,80,83,84,85,87,89,88]+\\ [91,92,93,94,95,96]+[49]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.90
19	9	8	3	[1,3,2,4,5,6,8,7]+[11,10,12,13,14,16,15]+[9]t	0.98	0.93
37	9	8	3	[9,2,3,4,5,6,8,7]+[11,10,12,13,14,15,16,17]+ [19,20,21,22,23,24,27,25]+[26,29,30,31,32,33,34]+[18]t	0.99	0.91
55	9	8	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8] + [10,11,12,13,14,16,15,17] + \\ [53,20,21,34,23,24,25,26] + [28,29,41,31,32,33,35,22] + \\ [46,37,38,39,40,30,42,43] + [36,47,48,49,50,51,52] + [27]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.90
73	9	8	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6,7,11]+[23,8,12,13,14,15,16,17]+\\ [18,19,20,21,22,10,25,9]+[28,29,30,31,32,42,34,35]+\\ [46,38,39,68,59,24,43,44]+[47,37,48,49,50,51,52,53]+\\ [55,56,57,58,41,60,61,62]+[63,64,65,66,67,69,70]+[36]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.87
91	9	8	3	$ \begin{array}{l} [1,2,3,4,5,6,54,16] + [9,11,12,21,14,15,8,17] + \\ [63,48,13,22,23,24,25,34] + [28,29,58,31,32,33,7,81] + \\ [37,38,39,40,41,42,43,44] + [60,47,62,49,50,51,52,53] + \\ [55,57,56,20,59,46,27,30] + [64,65,66,67,68,69,70,71] + \\ [72,74,75,76,77,78,79,80] + [82,83,84,85,86,87,88] + [45]t \end{array} $	0.99	0.83

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: A Physical and Computational Sciences 60(1): 39-46 (2023) Copyright © Pakistan Academy of Sciences ISSN (Print): 2518-4245; ISSN (Online): 2518-4253 https://doi.org/10.53560/PPASA(60-1)809



Strengthening Pedestrian Safety: An Evaluation of Signals at Major Intersections in Lahore, Pakistan

Hina Saleemi^{*}, Zia ur Rehman, Saadia Tabassum, Ammad Hassan Khan, and Abdur Rahim

Department of Transportation Engineering and Management, University of Engineering and Technology, G.T. Road, Lahore, Pakistan

Abstract: Pedestrians' safe mobility at intersections is associated with the facilities provided at the crossings. Lahore is one of the most populous cities in Pakistan. Too many road accidents occur daily at various areas of Lahore in which pedestrian-vehicle collision has a major ratio. To reduce the pedestrian-vehicle collisions, pedestrian signals are installed at major intersections of Lahore city. This paper examines the relationship between pedestrian signals and Level of Service (LOS), with a focus on enhancing awareness of pedestrian signal operation and investigates the impact of pedestrian signals on the LOS of intersections in Lahore in terms of pedestrian movement. Research shows that the poor level of awareness about how pedestrian signals work contributes to the inadequate level of service of intersections in terms of pedestrian movement. The results also provide valuable insights for policymakers and practitioners in developing effective strategies to improve the pedestrian experience and reduce pedestrian-vehicle collisions at intersections.

Keywords: Pedestrian-Vehicle Collision, Pedestrian Signals, Pedestrians Awareness, Pedestrian Safety.

1. INTRODUCTION

Road safety with respect to pedestrian movement, is an important issue in cities around the world. Pedestrians are among the most vulnerable road users, and ensuring their safety is crucial for creating a comfortable and sustainable urban environment. Lahore, one of the most populous cities in Pakistan, is reportedly facing many road accidents on daily basis at various areas of the city. Among these, the pedestrian-vehicle collision has a major ratio. In view of high volume of traffic and increasing number of pedestrian-vehicle collisions at major intersections and saturated roads of Lahore, the Punjab Safe Cities Authority (PSCA) has installed pedestrian signals at major intersections of the city. PSCA is an autonomous government body that aims to improve road users' safety and traffic management in the province of Punjab, Pakistan. The main purpose of these signals was the safety and facilitation of pedestrians at crossings. Safe walking environments especially,

along roadside encourage physical activities of people [1]. Occasionally, it is noticed that individuals feel greater ease when walking or crossing in areas equipped with suitable amenities. Govinda et al. [2] performed a comparative study of pedestrian crossing behaviour at uncontrolled intersection and midblock locations in medium size cities (Warangal and Thiruvananthapuram in India) under mixed traffic conditions and noted that the minimum crossing speed observed at the intersection is higher than the midblock. In low and middle income countries (LMICs) walking is still under consideration by majority of travellers. In LMICs, pedestrians' safety and security are an important public health objective with regard to injury control, as pedestrians suffer most of the road traffic fatalities and injuries. Compared to low and middle income countries (LMICs), high income countries (HIC) with crossing facilities have documented a decrease in pedestrian fatalities [3]. A Global burden of disease study states that there were half a million of pedestrian fatalities

Received: January 2023; Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding author: Hina Saleemi < hinasaleemi@uet.edu.pk>

in the year 2010 [4]. Pedestrian fatalities usually occurred at the time of road crossing. Being a road user, pedestrians often get injured or even die during interaction with intersecting vehicles [5].

Some researchers have studied pedestrian noncompliance behavior at signalized intersections for the purpose of developing pedestrian speed flow relations [6] and also delay models [7]. Pedestrian crossing behaviors are important to know in order to examine the working of pedestrian signals. Factors affecting pedestrian crossing behaviors were identified for the improvement of pedestrian safety at signalized intersections [8]. Pedestrians exhibited increased confidence and ease when crossing in the presence of traffic signals. Conversely, at locations without a traffic signal, pedestrians had to exert nearly twice as much effort in determining appropriate gaps in traffic and making crossing attempts [9].

Pedestrians using crosswalk during pedestrian green phase were considered as compliance pedestrians while those who were using crosswalk during non-green phase were considered as noncompliance pedestrians. The percentage of pedestrian compliance was defined as the ratio between the number of pedestrians using the crosswalk during green phase and total number of pedestrians that arrived at crosswalks. Similarly, Marisamynathan and Perumal studied that during pedestrian non-green phases, pedestrians are prohibited to enter the intersection that is important for their safety [10]. Whereas, during pedestrian green phase, pedestrian-vehicle interactions might have occurred due to driver's negligence, that needs to be controlled for the safe movement of pedestrians on the crossings. Pedestrians' two stage crossing behavior is of great significance to enhance safety and efficiency for pedestrians at signalized intersections. A research shows that pedestrians in the two directions present different preferences in terms of route choice, waiting position, directional change and route type. Two-stage crossing is an effective measure to increase the pedestrian flow rate and the intersection capacity [11]. Pedestrians' walking speed is also an important parameter for designing traffic signals at signalized intersections [12]. Varsha and Bindhu have examined some factors affecting pedestrian crossing speed which are important for the improvement of pedestrian

safety at intersections. Their field study shows that the crossing speed of pedestrians varies mostly from the expected constant value of 1.2 ms^{-1} [13]. Moreover, to predict vulnerable pedestrians' behavior there is a need for the highest level of development in the field of pedestrian safety. In this regard, Yang *et al.* [14], have introduced a groundbreaking neural network architecture that combines distinct spatio-temporal features in order to predict pedestrian crossing intentions.

In Pakistan, a large number of road accidents occur on daily basis at various sections/intersections of major roads in meteropolitan/most populus cities such as Lahore, Karachi etc in which pedestrianvehicle collision has a major ratio. To reduce the pedestrian-vehicle collisions, the road authorities has installed pedestrian signals at major road intersections in these cities which has resulted in a fair decrease in the road traffic colloisons/crashes. As an example a prominent trend of decrease in road traffic crashes (RTC) in the city of Lahore has been observed during the year 2019 [15]. The data publicized by Punjab Emergency Service (PES) mentioned that in 2017, almost 443 people were killed in road accidents, whereas, in year 2019 the figure was reduced to 350 showing a clear decline in casualties. With the aim to provide safe and convenient crossing for pedestrians as well as vehicles PSCA has installed pedestrian signals at 65 intersections of Lahore. The main objective of present investigation is the evaluation of pedestrian signals at 4 major intersections of Lahore with respect to activation, working, effectiveness, awareness and users' satisfaction. Furthermore, evaluation of Level of Service (LOS) of intersections with respect to pedestrians' movement is also analyzed using SIDRA intersection tool. LOS is usually ranked by two parameters E (unstable flow) and F (forced traffic flow). The unstable flow (E) refers to the condition when the flow becomes irregular and speed varies rapidly because there are virtually no usable gaps to maneuver in the traffic stream and speeds rarely reach the posted limit. On the other hand, the forced traffic flow (F) refers to the condition when the amount of traffic approaching a point exceeds the amount that can be served. Accordingly, this type of LOS represents stopand-go waves, increased accident exposure, low comfort and convenience, and poor travel times.

2. STUDY AREA

Lahore, the capital of the Punjab province Pakistan, has been selected for evaluation of signals at major road intersections in the city. The city of Lahore is a bustling metropolis with mixed traffic conditions that require careful consideration for pedestrian safety. There are a total of 6 towns in Lahore where pedestrian signals are installed, i.e., Model Town, Civil Lines, Saddar, Cantt, Iqbal Town and Walled city. The study area chosen for this research is Mall road in Civil Lines Town. Mall road is one of the major roads in Lahore. This historic road was built by the British on a route leading to governor house. Mall road is a wide, major traffic thoroughfare which has enough space to run along most sections of the road. Mall road Lahore is the one which is totally equipped with most of the technologies of Intelligent Transportation System under PSCA that is why this road is selected as study area. This road has 12 intersections in total among which only 4 four intersections namely, Faisal intersection, Regal intersection, GPO intersection and High Court intersection shown in Figure 1, on which pedestrian signals are fully operative have been selected for the analysis. These are the major intersections of Lahore having a minimum of 3 lanes road and a maximum of four lanes road with a greater volume of pedestrians.

3. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

Current research has analyzed several pedestrian crossing behaviors at 4 selected signalized intersections on Mall road Lahore to provide insights for improving pedestrian safety. Figure 2 highlights the schematics/research methodology used in the present investigation.

The primary data about pedestrians crossing facility design, pedestrians' volume and signal control were obtained from field through pedestrians countdown survey. The pedestrian count surveys were conducted for peak hours in a single day. This data was used to evaluate the working of the pedestrian signals. Moreover, the data about awareness level, pedestrians' priority to cross the road, frequency of crossing, impact and effectiveness of pedestrian signals were also obtained from questionnaire survey. The questionnaire survey was divided into five sections i.e. socioeconomic factors, awareness level, usage/non-usage of signals, impact of signals on pedestrian accidents and effectiveness. The sample size comprised of 600 questionnaires. SPSS and SIDRA intersection tools were used for data analysis.

GPO Intersection Construction
Fig.1. Map of study area/selected intersections on Mall road, Lahore

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Descriptive Analysis

Table 1 presents descriptive analysis with respect to various statistical parameters such as; (i) socioeconomic characteristics (age), (ii) awareness level of pedestrian signals, (iii) effectiveness of pedestrian signals (obeyance to follow pedestrian signals or otherwise, (iv) safety: reasons of pedestrian vehicles collisions, decrease in pedestrian vehicle collisions. The descriptive results shows that 30 % of respondents were females and 70 % were males. Maximum participants were of age between 20-35 years. Descriptive statistics show that 21 % of participants thought that pedestrians should cross the road whenever get a chance, while 41 % thought that pedestrians should cross the road when traffic light is red which is a safer option for the pedestrians. Moreover, 25 % of participants stated that they should watch the traffic flow before crossing the street while, 13 % suggested that pedestrians should not interrupt the flow of traffic if there is no urgency. Regarding the awareness of the pedestrian signals, only 44 % of pedestrians were aware of these signals but they were not fully aware about the working and usage of the signal. Furthermore, 34 % of participants said that they do not follow the signals. Some of the reasons were

Table 1. Descriptive statisctics

Variables	Description	Distribution (%)	Frequency
So	ocioeconomic	characteristics	
	Male	70	421
Gender	Female	30	179
Age	<20	23	138
	20-35	63	375
	36-50	11	66
	51-65	2	17
	>65	1	4
	Awarene	ess level	
	Fully aware	21	126
Awareness of	Aware	44	262
pedestrian	Somewhat	29	176
signals	aware		
	Not Know	6	36

Effecti	veness of ped	estrian s	signal	s (PS)	
Effectiveness of pedestrian signal	Very effective	17		103	
Do you	Effective	57		344	
follow pedestrian	Neutral	21		124	
signals?	Not ffective	5		29	
Reasons	Always	39		234	
of not following	Sometimes	40		242	
the	Rarely	16		97	
pedestrian signal	Never	5		27	
	Time taking	34		206	
	Away from	26		155	
Reasons of pedestrian vehicle collisions	Pedestrian Bridge is Provided Other	20 20		120	
	S-f			119	
	Sai	ety			
	People donot signals	follow	55	332	
	High traffic v	olume	20	118	
	High traffic s	peed	14	82	
	Existing sign not working	als are	9	57	
	Other		2	11	
Decrease in	Increase in no of pedestrian crossing loca	12	73		
pedestrian	Raise awaren	iess	51	306	
collisions	Law enforces	nent	31	183	
	Increase spee	ed	6	38	

that they cannot wait much as it is time taking and sometimes crossing at intersection is not feasible as it is away from their destination. 51 % of users mentioned that awareness of pedestrian signals should be increased among people and 31 % stated that law enforcement should also be implemented to increase the effectiveness of these signals. Result shows that according to users' perspective 49 % of pedestrian vehicle collisions were due to the irresponsibility of drivers as well as pedestrians. Moreover, 55 % statistics shows that accidents take place due to the pedestrians who do no follow the signals. According to users' perspective there was decrease in pedestrian-vehicle collision after the installation of pedestrian signals. Almost there was 51 % decrease is the accidents by raising the awareness about the installation and working of pedestrian signals which shows the effectiveness of pedestrian signals in reducing the pedestrian-vehicle collision. Moreover, 57 % of respondents mentioned that it is effective as per safety of the pedestrians if followed properly.

4.2 Intersection Analysis (SIDRA)

Faisal intersection, Regal intersection, GPO intersection and High Court intersection are located at mall road. All four intersections are four legged intersections with maximum of four lanes in each direction. Analysis was done using SIDRA intersection tool to check the level of service (LOS) and delays of these intersections with respect to pedestrians movement. The pedestrian volumes of Faisal intersection, Regal intersection, GPO intersection and High Court intersection were collected for peak hour of a day. Hourly average pedestrian volume at each intersection is given in Table 2.

A summary of the overall statistical analysis with regards to pedestrian characteristics (i.e., travel speed, travel distance, travel time, demand flow and control delay at intersections along with LOS of the intersection with respect to pedestrians' movement) for the four selected intersections on the Mall road (Table 3) is disscused in the following sections.

Table	2.	Average	pedestrian	volume/hour
			perconnen	

Cross walk location	Average pedestrians (volume/hour)
Faisal intersection	255
Regal intersection	268
GPO intersection	368
High Court intersection	208



Fig. 3. LOS of Faisal Intersection Mall Road

4.2.1 Faisal Intersection

Table 3 shows that at Faisal intersection, the pedestrians were walking at an average speed of 1.9 km/h with total distance travelled of 17.6 pedestrian-km/hr. The delay time that the pedestrians were facing at this intersection was 7 1sec with a total hourly flow rate of 268 pedestrians/hour. Based on these values the overall pedestrian LOS at Faisal intersection (Figure 3) is ranked as "F" which means that all walking speeds were severly restricted and that there was frequent unavoidable contact with other pedestrians.



Fig. 4. LOS of Regal Intersection Mall road

Intersections	Travel speed (km/h)	Travel distance (Ped-km/h)	Travel time (Ped/h)	Demand flow (Ped/h)	Control delay (sec)	LOS
Faisal	1.9	17.6	9.1	268	71	F
Regal	1.8	11	6.1	272	50	Е
GPO	1.4	16.6	12.3	387	81	F
High Court	2	8.6	4.4	219	42	Е

4.2.2 Regal Intersection

Table 3 shows that at Regal intersection, the pedestrians were walking at an average speed of 1.8 km/h with a total distance travelled of 11 pedestrian-km/hr. The delay time that the pedestrians were facing at this intersection was 50 seconds with a total hourly flow rate of 272 pedestrians/hour. Based on these values the overall pedestrian LOS at Regal intersection (Figure 4) is classified as E which means that nearly all pedestrians restricted their normal walking speed and that space was not sufficient for passing slower pedestrians.

4.2.3 GPO Intersection

Table 3 shows that at GPO intersection, the pedestrians were walking at an average speed of 1.4 km/h with a total travelled distance of 16.6 pedestrians-km/hr. The delay time that the pedestrians were facing at this intersection was 81 sec with total hourly flow rate of 387 pedestrians/



Fig. 5. LOS of GPO Intersection Mall Road



Fig. 6. LOS of High Court Intersection Mall Road

hr which results in pedestrian LOS F as shown in Figure 5.

4.2.4 High Court Intersection

At High Court intersection in Table 3 shows the pedestrians were walking at an average speed of 2.0 km/h with the total distance travelled by pedestrian was 8.6 ped-km/hr. The delay time that the pedestrians were facing at the intersection was 42 sec with a total hourly flow rate of 219 ped/hour. Based on these values the overall pedestrian LOS at High Court intersection (Figure 6) is classified as E. The analysis shows that overall working of pedestrian signal at the intersection was not good enough in terms of delays and user satisfaction, which needs to be improved. This may be because of the lack of awareness about the usage and importance of the pedestrian signals which needs to be disseminated among masses travelling through this intersection. Figure 3 and figure 5 shows that pedestrians' LOS at Faisal intersection and GPO intersection was "F" which means that all walking speeds were severely restricted, and forward progress was made only by shuffling. There was frequent unavoidable contact with other pedestrians. Cross-and reverseflow movements were virtually impossible which made the flow irregular and unstable. Space is a property of queued pedestrians than of moving pedestrians. On the other hand, figure 4 and figure 6 shows that pedestrians' LOS at Regal intersection and High Court intersection was E which means that nearly all pedestrians restricted their normal walking speed. Forward movement was possible only by shuffling. Space was not sufficient for passing slower pedestrians. Cross or reverseflow movements were possible only with extreme difficulties. Design volumes approached the limit of walkway capacity which caused interruption of flow and difficulty in crossing.

5. CONCLUSION

The deployment and execution of the pedestrians' signals within the Lahore city has developed a great sense of responsibility among the road users. With this system, road users understand the value of road safety in true sense and meaning, which indeed guides them to follow the traffic rules. The present study has analysed the response of the pedestrians to the signals that are in use at various

road intersections within the Lahore city as a part of the transportation system. The pedestrianvehicular interaction and the influencing factors on intersection LOS, providing an in-depth understanding of the factors that affect pedestrian safety has also been analyzed.

The study found that only 44 % of participants were aware of pedestrian signals at the intersection, while 34 % did not follow the signals due to inconvenience. To reduce pedestrian-vehicle collisions, 51 % suggested awareness campaigns, 31 % favored law enforcement and 57 % found pedestrian signals effective. The analysis of pedestrian signals reveals that working of pedestrian signals with respect to pedestrian movement was not perfect. At Faisal intersection the delay time that the pedestrians were facing was 71sec with a total hourly flow rate of 268 ped/hour. Based on these values the overall LOS of intersection was F. At Regal intersection the delay time was 50 seconds with a total hourly flow rate of 272 ped/ hour. In addition, the overall LOS of intersection was E. Furthermore, analysis shows that at GPO intersection, the delay that the pedestrians were facing at this intersection was 81 seconds with total hourly flow rate of 387 ped/hour which results in overall intersection LOS as F. At High Court intersection, the delay time that the pedestrians were facing was 42 seconds with a total hourly flow rate of 219 ped/hour which results the LOS as E. The analysis shows that overall working of pedestrian signal at the intersection was not good enough in terms of delays and user satisfaction, which needs to be improved.

It is envisaged that the present studies will help to develop pedestrian delay models and pedestrian LOS (level of service) models at signalized intersections, which can be used by concerned authorities and policymakers to make informed decisions and who strive to make signalized intersections safer for all road users.

6. RECOMMENDATIONS

The following recommendations are made to improve pedestrian safety and to reduce pedestrian vehicle collisions:

• Conduct awareness campaigns to educate the

public about pedestrian signals.

- Optimize pedestrian signal placement and timing to reduce delays and improve convenience.
- Coordinate pedestrian signals with traffic signals to improve safety.
- Increase law enforcement to ensure compliance with traffic rules.
- Regularly evaluate and improve pedestrian signals.

By implementing these recommendations, pedestrian safety can be improved, collisions reduced, and a better user experience may be provided for pedestrians.

7. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

8. REFERENCES

- D.A. Quistberg, T.D. Koepsell, L.N. Boyle, J.J. Miranda, B.D. Johnston, and B.E. Ebel. Pedestrian signalization and the risk of pedestrian-motor vehicle collisions in Lima, Peru. *Accident; Analysis* and Prevention 70: 273-281 (2014).
- L. Govinda, D, Abhigna, P.M. Nair and K.V.R. R. Shankar. Comparative Study of Pedestrian Crossing Behaviour at Uncontrolled Intersection and Midblock Locations. *Transportation Research Procedia* 48: 698-706 (2020).
- G. Tiwari. Progress in pedestrian safety research. International Journal of Injury Control and Safety Promotion 27(1): 35-43 (2020).
- H. Singh, S.K. Dhattarwal, S. Mittal, and A.D. Aggarwal. A Review of Pedestrian Traffic Fatalities. *Journal of Indian Academy of Forensic Medicine* 29(4): 55-57 (2007).
- Y. Cao, X. Zhuang, and G. Ma. Shorten pedestrians' perceived waiting time: The effect of tempo and pitch in audible pedestrian signals at red phase. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 123: 336-340 (2019).
- G. Ren, Z. Zhou, W. Wang, Y. Zhang, and Wi. Wang. Crossing behaviors of pedestrians at signalized intersections observational study and survey in China. *Transportation Research Record* 2264(1): 65-73 (2011).
- M. Sankaran. Modeling Pedestrian Delay at Signalized Intersections Under Mixed Traffic Conditions. *Transportation Research Board 93rd Annual Meeting* (2014).
- 8. L. Liu, and Z. Wang. Analysis on influencing factors

and decision – Making of pedestrian crossing at intersections. *AIP Conference Proceedings* 1890(1): 040042 (2017).

- K.S. Minhas, Z. Batool, B.Z. Malik, I. Sanaullah and T.A. Akbar. Pedestrian environment and behavior in Lahore, Pakistan. *Journal of Transport and Health* 7(Part B): 181-189 (2017).
- 10. P.V. Marisamynathan. Study on pedestrian crossing behavior at signalized intersections. *Journal of Traffic and Transportation Engineering(English Edition)* 1(2): 103-110 (2014).
- Y. Guo, X. Wang, X. Meng, Y. Liu, and J. Wang. Analysis of route choice for pedestrian twostage crossing at a signalized intersection. *Civil Engineering Journal* 4(12): 2813 (2018).
- 12. Y. Guo, X. Wang, X. Meng, J. Wang, and Y. Liu. Pedestrians 'speed analysis for two -Stage crossing

at a signalized intersection. *Civil Engineering Journal* 5(3): 505-514 (2019).

- V. Varsha, and B.K. Bindhu. Effect of pedestrian characteristics at signalized intersection. *International Journal of Engineering Research & Technology (IJERT)* 5(08): 29-33 (2016).
- D. Yang, H. Zhang, E. Yurtsever, K. Redmill, and U. Ozguner. Predicting Pedestrian Crossing Intention With Feature Fusion and Spatio-Temporal Attention. *IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Vehicles* 7(2): 221-230 (2022).
- In Lahore, road accident casualties decline in 2019. *The Express Tribune*. (https://tribune.com.pk/ story/2102182/lahoreroad-accident-casualtiesdecline-2019) (accessed 15 Feb 2023).



Exploring the Complexities of Urbanization and Socio-Ecological Challenges in the High Mountainous Region of Chitral, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (KPK), Pakistan

Shahab Uddin¹, Anila Kausar¹, Sheeba Afsar¹, Ambreen Afzal², Altaf Hussain Lahori³, Olena Stepova^{4*}, Muhammad Mushahid Anwar⁵, and Viktor Bredun⁴

¹Department of Geography, University of Karachi, Pakistan ²National Institute of Maritime Affairs, Bahria University Karachi Campus, Pakistan ³Department of Environmental Sciences, Sindh Madressatul Islam University, Karachi, Pakistan ⁴Department of Applied Ecology and Nature Management, National University «Yuri Kondratyuk Poltava Polytechnic», Poltava, Ukraine ⁵Department of Geography, University of Gujrat, Pakistan

Abstract: Rapid urbanization is not only an issue in plain areas but also in mountainous regions. However, urbanization affects the socio-ecological pattern of mountainous regions especially depleting natural resources, e.g., traditional agricultural practices. Although urban sprawl impinges on such fertile productive lands, it also positively affects trade activities, and high-income opportunities, and the region will have high spatial interaction. This paper presents the results of an attempt to gain insight into the mechanisms for the urban growth of district Chitral (Chitral Town) located in the Hindu Kush range north of KPK Pakistan. Over the last few decades, the urban agglomeration has become attractive among migrants from within and beyond the district, further accelerating urban growth in the surrounding area. The landscape transformation phenomenon in Chitral town was investigated with the following objectives: (i) Detection of spatiotemporal change in the study area over the last two decades, (ii) Identification of existing landscape patterns i.e. land-use assessment by analysing the acquired high-resolution remote satellite imageries for the years 2003 and 2020, (iii) Empirical analysis of data within the framework of an object-based approach. Landuse transformations like spatiotemporal change, loss of agriculture, and infrastructure patterns of urban growth were estimated for the past 17 years. This study reveals that the agricultural Land-use has declined by 348 m² while the Built-up area has increased by 318 m². The research offers practical recommendations for sustainable town planning and management. As such, this study has the potential to propose future strategies and it may be helpful to the policy/ decision-makers in the development of future town planning in the similar mountainous regions of Pakistan or elsewhere.

Keywords: Land-use (LU)/Land-cover (LC) Pattern, Urbanization, Mountainous Regions of Chitral, Spatio-Temporal Changes, Socio-Ecological Patterns, Town Planning.

1. INTRODUCTION

Urbanization is a worldwide phenomenon resulting from the industrial revolution and the advancement of contemporary industry and technology [1]. More than half of the globe's population is living in metropolises, urbanization is worldwide in progress, and the city population is predicted to rise reaching 60 % by 2030. Of these, residents living in township areas, approximately 1.2 billion are precarious informal settlement residents [2]. Suitable human use is very limited in mountainous areas, valley floors are usually occupied by settlements, mass transit routes, and economic and social set-ups e.g., educational, health-related, power, and industry-based facilities are usually at risk on one hand while inadequate agriculturally productive land resources on the other hand [3]. Rapid urbanization has not halted the footprint of mountainous areas, gradually affecting small

Received: January 2023; Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding author: Anila Kausar <anilak@uok.edu.pk>; Olena Stepova <nning.stepovaov@nupp.edu.ua>

and medium-sized communities negatively in mountain regions, posing special socio-ecological concerns such as diminishing natural resources and increasing natural hazard risk which received the least amount of scientific attention [4]. If Land-use planning strategies will be implemented, any urban area could be improved [5]. At the urban margins, there is a lack of availability of appropriate microdata for residential development therefore; as a result, there is diminutive analysis for the vacant lands, which is evident in the introduction of urban growth boundaries (UGB's) [6]. In mountains, urban settlements are mesmerizing locations although modernization is obvious due to cities and towns and mountains are the last sites that preserve wilderness and rural customs [7]. Therefore, rustic livelihood in mountainous sites is taking its last breaths in the existing era.

For waged communities mountainous towns provide an adequate environment of want and demand and the creation of capital and market conditions also provide ample opportunities to the neighboring regions, while geographical research mostly focused on megacities and small towns were given less attention, to the meaning of small and medium towns in the modern urbanization process has constantly grown [8]. However, these mountainous towns have constantly grown and paved the way for urban problems and ecological changes like open space shrinkage, irregular land use, environmental pollution, dwelling problem, increase in land coast, etc. Therefore, a research approach acts as a bridge between the natural environment and the social forces in finding a way to a satisfying environment for the future [9]. The complexities of urbanization in mountainous areas are debatable.

Pakistan has a widespread high-rise mountain zone of the Himalayas and Hindukush. Almost 61 % of the geographical area of Pakistan is covered by mountainous areas out of a total of 26.5 % of the world's continental land surface [10]. The high mountain zone of the Himalayas and Hindukush is divided into Northwest Frontier Hills & submontane Indus and Himalaya-Karakorum [11, 12]. The Hindukush Range in the North extends Northwest; The Karakoram Range passes through The Himalayas in the center [13]. The estimation in the population resided at mountains rely upon the definition of World Conservation Monitoring Centre (WCMC) [14]. In the mountains and highlands agricultural sites are mostly practiced on the terraces, and in some areas, it is practiced as historical traditions and fragment of cultural ecologies amenities [15]. Among the 17 Sustainable development goals, 15th goal is related to life on land and it is based on protection, restoration and promotion of sustainable use of Earth's ecosystem in which prime most is stop and inverse the land degradation [16]. For centuries diverse and locally adapted agricultural systems developed, managed, trial and tested by people involved in primary activities, a vital combination of cultural, social, economic and ecological of such practices have been induced to men [17].

In Pakistan, all localities, which are metropolitan corporations, municipal corporations, municipal committee, or cantonments at the time of the census, were treated as urban [18]. The present investigation in mountainous regions of Chitral locayed in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (KPK), Pakistan focuses on analyzing the reasons and consequences of mountain urbanization from a broader and more integrative perspective by addressing questions like: What are the spatiotemporal characteristics of the urbanization process in a high mountain town? What determines the pace and form of urbanization? Which challenges for sustainable urban governance appear? The main objective of this study is to provide insight into the mechanisms for the urban growth of district Chitral (Chitral Town) located in the Hindu Kush range north of KPK Pakistan. To investigate the landscape transformation phenomenon, attempts have been made to detect the spatio-temporal change in the study area over the last two decades, and to identify existing landscape patterns i.e., land-use assessment by analyzing the acquired high-resolution remote satellite imageries for the years 2003 and 2020.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Study Area

The study area namely Chitral Town (Figure 1) is located in Chitral district; a Northern most districts of Khyber Pakhtoon Khawah (KPK), and Chitral River originates from the Chiantar Glacier located in along with its tributaries and numerous springs, drained the valley and after draining the region, it enters into Arandu-Afghanistan [19]. Chitral Town is approximately 35.9 km² area coverage which is 0.24 % of the total Chitral district's area. Study comprises on three union councils (UC's) namely UC Chitral-1, UC Chitral-2 and UC Broze with the population selected urban area is 49,780 [20].

Chitral is the valley bounded by Hindu Kush Range on the North West, Karakoram Range on the North East and Hindu Raj Range on the South, the famous Lawari tunnels is located there which connect the district to upper Dir. The physiography of Chitral; a diverse mountainous area with glaciers including snow cover mountains, and unembellished rock and sterile ground covered approximately 28.5 % of land while pasture and sparse vegetation spread over 62 % of land [21]. Climatic condition of the region is experiencing cold winter with mid-summer. Since, the area is surrounded by mountains, it does not receive the monsoon rains [21]. Mean rainfall at Drosh meteorological station located at Chitral towns of Lower Chitral ranges 500-650 mm per year [22].

2.2 Study Plan

To assess the urbanization trends, data have been collected through the detection of Spatio-temporal change at town scale over the past two decades. High resolution quick bird 10 meter resolution Satellites images from the SaaS planet have been downloaded for the year 2020, DEM 30 meter from Earth Explorer and High-resolution image for the year 2003 from Google Earth pro (Figure 2).

To detect spatio-temporal change and identify spread patterns of built-up land expansion from the urban core to associated landscape from 2003 to 2020, the acquired images have been processed in ArcGIS in order to get raster data for further analyzing, the manual digitization process is applied through the steps mentioned in (Figure 3). After editing all the raster data, which have been processed through the images, attribute tables have been analyzed further. Object based (manual) analysis [5, 23] have been conducted for creating all the vector data. Finally, the data have been tabulated.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The change detection of land-use/land cover of the study area (Figure 4) has been mentioned. There is shrinking of agricultural land-use can easily be identified. In contrast, the extension of built-up land-use has been identified in different places. In many places, extension of built-up towards the city's fringes may be viewed. Around the cities, there is a high demand for land-use for residential purposes and it was estimated that by the year 2025 if the estimated trend continued, then 70 %



Fig. 1. Study area map of Chitral Town-Khyber Paktunkhwa (KPK)



Fig. 2. Data acquisition and processing

of the population would reside in cities. In the year 2003, agricultural land-use was 766 m², which was shrinked up to 418 m^2 in the year 2020 (Table 1). Therefore, loss of 348 m² of agricultural area has been recorded during a period of 17 years. Kiambu County, the peripheries of Nairobi have lost forty percent of productive agricultural land to city expansion since 1995 [24]. In the year 2003, builtup area mostly for residential purposes was 371 m² (Table 1) in the study area, in contrast in year 2020 it expanded to 689 m² (Table 1). Therefore, in the study area, the expansion of 318 m^2 of the area have been recorded. Road networks and associated infrastructure remain the prominent sign of arbitrating urbanization, Chitral city resonances the urbanization in a true sense, where in the year 2003,

road network was 360,432 meters and it increased by 594,171 meters by the year 2020 (Table 1), therefore in 17 years 233,739 meters roads have been paved. Nevertheless, it is the fact that mountainous areas are mostly unhabituated and Chitral city was also located over the mountainous range, which has been considered the highest mountainous range of the world i.e., The Great Himalayas. One out of ten world's population lives in mountainous areas and these mountainous areas hold 25 % of the land surface of Earth [25]. Number of settlements increased from 3015 (Year 2003) to 4091 (Year 2020) in the study area (Table 1), therefore 1,076 new settlements have developed. Hu et al. [26] stated that Pakistan's Land-use (LU)/Land-cover (LC) patterns have endured huge variations since



Fig. 3. Image acquisition and process

the 1900s, with no clear modified plan.

3.1 Change Detection of Land-Use for the Year 2003 and 2020

Build-up area included the build-up land and other infrastructure e.g. residential, commercial, or industiral land-use etc. By the comparison of two decade change in build-up land in the study area (Figure 5), it is observed that during the year 2020, the total number of further built-up land-use have been constructed at the fringes of cultivated land stretched to 4091 m² which was 3015 m² during the year 2003. It is, therefore, evident that the number of settlments in the period of two decades has become two-fold. Through the observation based survey and interviews of respondents were conducted from 8 locations within the study area, it has been detected that the dominant factors are modernization in central area of town, administative infrastructre and residential land-uses have increased with the rapid rate. Kausar et al. [5, 23] conducted a research on urban areas of Karachi; the largest metropolitan of Pakistan and suggested that there is a dire need to adapt suitable planning strateiges to gear up the urban sprawl.



Fig. 4. Land-use of study area

3.2 Shrinking of Agriculture Land-Use

The comparison of agricultural land-use data for the period 2003-2020 (Figure 6) shows that there is a clear decline in agricultural land-use. In the year 2003, the total agricultural land-use was 766 m^2 , which educed to 418 m^2 in the year 2020. It is evident that during two decades, the agriculture land-use has declined by 54.6 % which is about half of the area. This decrease is attributed to the direct impact of unplanned and irregular development of fast-growing urbanization. It is evident that the rapid urbanization is the main cause of agricultural landuse decline (Table 1). In contrast, during a study of the LU/LC change detection in Western Nile data in Egypt, Abd El-Kawy et al. [27] reported that nearly 28, 14, and 9 % of infertile land was transformed to agricultural land in the periods 1984-1999, 1999-2005, and 2005–2009, respectively.

3.3 The Most Affected Area

As compared to other areas, two highlighted areas (Figure 7) are found more affected in terms of buildup areas. In these areas, primarily the areas having slope topographical feature, the infrastructure and buildup area are observed to be developed very fast. Topographically, both areas are on slope and these slopes were having wilderness. Later, both the areas experienced rapid development of buildup infrastructure. It was observed that these areas became developed in infrastructure and service sector. During the last decade, the provision of basic facilities e.g., frequent supply of drinking water, accessibility in terms of road networks, electricity made the areas more accessible. Such facilities led the area towards fast growing with an irregular settlement pattern. Our results are in-line with Yang [28] who observed major variations in conversion of arable land and grassland into construction land during the period 1990-2020.

4. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

An object-based approach, combination of highresolution remote sensing imagery and Geographic Information System (GIS) contribute to the determination of the urbanization pattern in high mountainous towns such as the Chitral Town. This was an attempt to reach deep inside the mechanism of rapid and random development in the small town

L and Uas	Year	
	2003	2020
Built-up Area	371 m ²	689 m ²
Agriculture Land	766 m ²	418 m ²
Road Network	360,432 meters	594,171 meters
Main Road	204,755 meters	11,749 meters
Numbers of Settlement	3015	4091

Table 1. Temporal change of land-use



Fig. 5. Change detection of build-up area



Fig. 6. Change detection of agricultural land-use in the study area (Chitral Town)

of Chitral, which has ultimately resulted in serious planning glitches today, and near future. Following results have been concluded from the present investigations in Chitral Town:

- (i) Agricultural Land-use has declined by 348 sq-meters in Chitral city since 2003;
- (ii) Built-up area has increased by 318 $m^2\ since$

2003;

- (iii) The number of settlments has become two-fold since 2003;
- (iv) During the 17 years, 2,33,739 meters roads was surfaced.

The present investigations suggest that there is an urgent need to develop policies and adapt landuse planning strategies to alleviate the negative



Fig. 7. Most affected areas in Chitral Town (KPK, Pakistan)

effects of rapid growth in build-up land in the study area. There should be implementation of "smart growth" strategies, especially the transfer of development rights and implementation of urban growth boundaries. Smart growth concentrates on compact development, and redevelopment of builtup area in the town, therefore inventive and efficient management is required to control the negative impact. On the Government level, the Municipal Committee (Chitral Town) has already divided the whole Bazar (market) into three zones, but it is not implemented yet and there is a dire need for micro-scale planning for the future growth of the town to avoid urban sprawl. There is future need for land-use planning at both; the government and private level to stear for the right direction of urban development in the study area.

5. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

6. **REFERENCES**

1. G. Crane-Kramer, and J. Buckberry. Changes

in health with the rise of industry. *International Journal of Paleopathology* 40: 99–102 (2023).

- 2. United Nations, P.D. The world's cities in 2016. *Data Booklet* 1-5 (2016).
- V. Chandel, K.K. Brar, and Y. Chauhan. RS & GIS based landslide hazard zonation of mountainous terrains a study from Middle Himalayan Kullu District, Himachal Pradesh, India. *International journal of Geomatics and Geosciences* 2(1): 121– 132. 2011.
- P.C. Tiwari, A. Tiwari, and B. Joshi. Urban growth in Himalaya: understanding the process and options for sustainable development. *Journal of Urban and Regional Studies on Contemporary India* 4(2): 15– 27 (2018).
- A. Kausar, S. Afsar, Z. Wazir, A.H. Lahori, A. Afzal, J. Arif, and V. Tyshchenko. Land Use Analysis of Central Business District (CBD) of Metropolis Saddar Karachi through SRS/GIS Techniques. *Ecological Questions* 33(1): 1–25 (2022).
- M. Ball, M. Cigdem, E. Taylor, and G. Wood. Urban growth boundaries and their impact on land prices. *Environment and Planning A* 46(12): 3010–3026 (2014).
- C.D. Allen. Romantic geography: In search of the sublime landscape. *The AAG Review of Books* 3(2): 60–62 (2015).

- C. Chen, R. LeGates, and C. Fang. From coordinated to integrated urban and rural development in China's megacity regions. *Journal of Urban Affairs* 41(2): 150–169 (2019).
- Y. Deng, W. Qi, B. Fu, and K. Wang. Geographical transformations of urban sprawl: Exploring the spatial heterogeneity across cities in China 1992– 2015. *Cities* 105: 102415 (2020).
- G. Rasul, and A. Hussain. Sustainable food security in the mountains of Pakistan: Towards a policy framework. *Ecology of food and nutrition* 54(6): 625–643 (2015).
- 11. M. Nüsser, and W.B. Dickore. A tangle in the triangle: vegetation map of the eastern Hindukush (Chitral, northern Pakistan). *Erdkunde* 37–59 (2002).
- A.S. Griffin, K. Netto, and C. Peneaux. Neophilia, innovation and learning in an urbanized world: a critical evaluation of mixed findings. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences* 16: 15–22 (2017).
- 13. A. Zanchi, and M. Gaetani. The geology of the Karakoram range, Pakistan: the new 1: 100,000 geological map of Central-Western Karakoram. *Italian journal of Geosciences* 130(2): 161–262 (2011).
- H. Buhaug, L.E. Cederman, and J.K. Rød. Disaggregating ethno-nationalist civil wars: A dyadic test of exclusion theory. *International Organization* 62(3): 531–551 (2008).
- 15. P. Tarolli, and E. Straffelini. Agriculture in hilly and mountainous landscapes: threats, monitoring and sustainable management. *Geography and sustainability* 1(1): 70–76 (2020).
- 16. M. Mohieldin, and P. Caballero. Protect, restore and promote sustainable use of terrestrial ecosystems, sustainably manage forests, combat desertification, and halt and reverse land degradation and halt biodiversity loss. *UN Chronicle* 51(4): 34–35 (2015).
- 17. P. Koohafkan, and M.A. Altieri. Globally important agricultural heritage systems: a legacy for the future (p. 41). Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (2011).
- 18. I.A. Rana, and S.S. Bhatti. Lahore, Pakistan-

Urbanization challenges and opportunities. *Cities* 72: 348–355 (2018).

- S. Riaz, A. Ali, and M.N. Baig. Increasing risk of glacial lake outburst floods as a consequence of climate change in the Himalayan region. *Jàmbá: Journal of Disaster Risk Studies* 6(1): 7 (2014).
- 20. Pakistan Bureau of Statistics, Government of Pakistan. https://www.pbs.gov.pk/content/briefcensus-2017 (accessed 1 February 2023)
- 21. J. Din, S. Hameed, K. Shah, M. Khan, S. Khan, M. Ali, and M. Nawaz. Assessment of canid abundance and conflict with humans in the Hindu Kush Mountain Range of Pakistan. *Wildlife Biology in Practice* 9: 20–29 (2013).
- D. Archer. Hydrological implications of spatial and altitudinal variation in temperature in the upper Indus basin. *Hydrology Research* 35(3): 209–222 (2004).
- 23. A. Kausar, A. Afzal, G. Saeed, A. Maqsoom, O.I. Khan, S. Afsar, Y. Anis, S.M. Zehra, V. Vambol, and S. Vambol. Land-Use/Land Cover Analysis Through Object Based Technique: A Case Study of Shahrah-e-Faisal. *Ecological Questions* 34(2): 1–5 (2023).
- 24. E. Joy. Impacts of rapid urbanisation in the urban fringe of Lokoja, Nigeria. *Journal of Geography and Regional Planning* 9(10): 185–194 (2016).
- B. Löffler. Integration in Deutschland. Oldenbourg Wissenschaftsverlag (2011). https://doi. org/10.1524/9783486710137.
- 26. Y. Hu, A. Raza, N.R. Syed, S. Acharki, R.L. Ray, S. Hussain, H. Dehghanisanij, M. Zubair, and A. Elbeltagi. Land Use/Land Cover Change Detection and NDVI Estimation in Pakistan's Southern Punjab Province. *Sustainability* 15(4): 3572 (2023).
- O.R. Abd El-Kawy, J.K. Rød, H.A. Ismail, and A.S. Suliman. Land use and land cover change detection in the western Nile delta of Egypt using remote sensing data. *Applied geography* 31(2): 483–494 (2011).
- Y. Yang. Evolution of habitat quality and association with land-use changes in mountainous areas: A case study of the Taihang Mountains in Hebei Province, China. *Ecological Indicators* 129: 107967 (2021).

Instructions for Authors

Manuscript Format

The manuscript may contain Abstract, Keywords, INTRODUCTION, MATERIALS AND METHODS, RESULTS, DISCUSSION (or RESULTS AND DISCUSSION), CONCLUSIONS, ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS, CONFLICT OF INTEREST and REFERENCES, and any other information that the author(s) may consider necessary.

Abstract (font size 10; max 250 words): Must be self-explanatory, stating the rationale, objective(s), methodology, main results, and conclusions of the study. Abbreviations, if used, must be defined on the first mention in the Abstract as well as in the main text. Abstract of review articles may have a variable format.

Keywords (font size 10): Three to eight keywords, depicting the article.

INTRODUCTION: Provide a clear and concise statement of the problem, citing relevant recent literature, and objectives of the investigation.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: Provide an adequate account of the procedures or experimental details, including statistical tests (if any), concisely but sufficient enough to replicate the study.

RESULTS: Be clear and concise with the help of appropriate Tables, Figures, and other illustrations. Data should not be repeated in Tables and Figures, but must be supported with statistics.

DISCUSSION: Provide interpretation of the RESULTS in the light of previous relevant studies, citing published references.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS: (font size 10): In a brief statement, acknowledge the financial support and other assistance.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST: State if there is any conflict of interest.

REFERENCES (font size 10): Cite references in the text **by number only** in **square brackets**, e.g. "Brown et al [2] reported ..." or "... as previously described [3, 6–8]", and list them in the REFERENCES section, in the order of citation in the text, Tables and Figures (not alphabetically). Only published (and accepted for publication) journal articles, books, and book chapters qualify for REFERENCES.

Declaration: Provide a declaration that: (i) the results are original; (ii) the same material is neither published nor under consideration elsewhere; (iii) approval of all authors have been obtained; and (iv) in case the article is accepted for publication, its copyright will be assigned to *Pakistan Academy of Sciences*. Authors must obtain permission to reproduce, where needed, copyrighted material from other sources and ensure that no copyrights are infringed upon.

Manuscript Formatting

Manuscripts must be submitted in Microsoft Word (2007 Version .doc or .docx format); **pdf** files not acceptable. Figures can be submitted in Word format, TIFF, GIF, JPEG, EPS, PPT. Manuscripts, in *Times New Roman*, 1.15spaced (but use single-space for Tables, long headings, and long captions of tables & figures). The text must be typed in a double-column across the paper width. The Manuscript sections must be numbered, i.e., **1. INTRODUCTION**, **2. MATERIALS AND METHODS**, and so on... (a) **Title** of the article (Capitalize initial letter of each main word; font-size 16; **bold**), max 160 characters (no abbreviations or acronyms), depicting article's contents; (b) Author' first name, middle initial, and last name (font size 12, **bold**), and professional affiliation (i.e., each author's Department, Institution, Mailing address and Email; but no position titles) (font size 12); (c) Indicate the corresponding author with *; (d) **Short running title**, max 50 characters (font size 10).

Headings and Subheadings (font size 11): All flush left

LEVEL-1: ALL CAPITAL LETTERS; Bold

Level-2: Capitalize Each Main Word (Except prepositions); Bold

Level-3: Capitalize each main word (Except prepositions); Bold, Italic

Level-4: Run-in head; Italics, in the normal paragraph position. Capitalize the initial word only and end in a colon (i.e., :)

List of REFERENCES must be prepared as under:

a. Journal Articles (Name of journals must be stated in full)

- 1. I. Golding, J. Paulsson, S.M. Zawilski, and E.C. Cox. Real time kinetics of gene activity in individual bacteria. *Cell* 123: 1025–1036 (2005).
- 2. W. Bialek, and S. Setayeshgar. Cooperative sensitivity and noise in biochemical signaling. *Physical Review Letters* 100: 258–263 (2008).
- 3. R.K. Robert, and C.R.L.Thompson. Forming patterns in development without morphogen gradients: differentiation and sorting. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 1(6) (2009).
- 4. D. Fravel. Commercialization and implementation of biocontrol. *Annual Reviews of Phytopathology* 43: 337359 (2005).

b. Books

- 5. W.R. Luellen. Fine-Tuning Your Writing. Wise Owl Publishing Company, Madison, WI, USA (2001).
- 6. U. Alon, and D.N. Wegner (Ed.). An Introduction to Systems Biology: Design Principles of Biological Circuits. *Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, FL, USA* (2006).

c. Book Chapters

- M.S. Sarnthein, and J.D. Stanford. Basal sauropodomorpha: historical and recent phylogenetic developments. In: The Northern North Atlantic: A Changing Environment. P.R. Schafer, & W. Schluter (Ed.), Springer, Berlin, Germany, pp. 365–410 (2000).
- 8. J.E. Smolen, and L.A. Boxer. Functions of Europhiles. In: Hematology, 4th ed. W.J. Williams., E. Butler and M.A. Litchman (Ed.), *McGraw Hill, New York, USA*, pp. 103–101 (1991).

d. Reports

9. M.D. Sobsey, and F.K. Pfaender. Evaluation of the H2S method for Detection of Fecal Contamination of Drinking Water, Report WHO/SDE/WSH/02.08, *Water Sanitation and Health Programme, WHO, Geneva, Switzerland* (2002).

e. Online references

These should specify the full URL for reference and give the date on which it was consulted. Please check again to confirm that the work you are citing is still accessible:

10. L. Branston. SENSPOL: Sensors for Monitoring Water Pollution from Contaminated Land, Landfills and Sediment (2000). http://www.cranfield.ac.uk/biotech/senspol/ (accessed 22 July 2005)

Tables and Figures

Insert all tables as editable text, not as images. Number tables consecutively following their appearance in the text, Figures should appear in numerical order, be described in the body of the text, and be positioned close to where they are first cited. Each figure should have a caption that describes the illustration, and that can be understood independently of the main text (Caption Table 1. and Fig 1. font size 10; Bold; Captions should be in sentence case; left-aligned). All Figures should have sufficiently high resolution (minimum 1000 pixels width/height, or a resolution of 300 dpi or higher) to enhance the readability. Figures may be printed in two sizes: column width of 8.0 cm or page width of 16.5 cm; number them as **Fig. 1**, **Fig. 2**, ... in the order of citation in the text. Parts in a figure can be identified by A, B, C, D, ... and cited as Figure 2A, Figure 2B, Figure 2C. Captions to Figures must be concise but self-explanatory. Laser printed line drawings are acceptable. Do not use lettering smaller than 9 points or unnecessarily large. Photographs must be of high quality. A scale bar should be provided on all photomicrographs.

Tables: with concise but self-explanatory headings must be numbered according to the order of citation (like **Table 1.**, **Table 2.**). *Do not* abbreviate the word "Table" to "Tab.". Round off data to the nearest three significant digits. Provide essential explanatory footnotes, with superscript letters or symbols keyed to the data. Do not use vertical or horizontal lines, except for separating column heads from the data and at end of the Table.

Figures: Figures may be printed in two sizes: column width of 8.0 cm or page width of 16.5 cm; number them as **Fig. 1**, **Fig. 2**, ... in the order of citation in the text. Captions to Figures must be concise but self-explanatory. Laser printed line drawings are acceptable. Do not use lettering smaller than 9 points or unnecessarily large. Photographs must be of high quality. A scale bar should be provided on all photomicrographs.

Note: The template of the manuscript is available at http://www.paspk.org/proceedings/; http://ppaspk.org/

Reviewers: Authors may suggest four relevant reviewers, two National and two International (with their **institutional E-mail** addresses).

SUBMISSION CHECKLIST

The following list will be useful during the final checking of an article before sending it to the journal for review.

Ensure that the following items are present:

One author has been designated as the corresponding author with contact details:

- E-mail address (Correct and valid)
- Full address of Institute/organization
- Keywords
- All figure captions
- All tables (including title, description, footnotes)

Further considerations

- · Manuscript has been 'spell-checked' and 'grammar checked'
- References are in the correct format for this journal
- All references mentioned in the Reference list are cited in the text, and vice versa
- Permission has been obtained for the use of copyrighted material from other sources (including the Internet)

In case of any difficulty while submitting your manuscript, please get in touch with:

Editor

Pakistan Academy of Sciences 3-Constitution Avenue, Sector G-5/2 Islamabad, Pakistan Email: e<u>ditor@paspk.org</u> Tel: +92-51-920 7140 Websites: <u>http://www.paspk.org/proceedings/; http://ppaspk.org/</u>



PROCEEDINGS OF THE PAKISTAN ACADEMY OF SCIENCES: PART A Physical and Computational Sciences

CONTENTS

Volume 60, No. 1, March 2023		
Review Article		
Adaptation of Outcome-Based Education System in Pakistan for Engineering Disciplines and its Critical Evaluation — Farhan Haider, Afshan Ahmed Siddiqui, and Syed Murtaza Ali	1	
Research Articles		
Spectral Variability of the Symbiotic Star CH Cyg — Mikailov Khidir Mustafa, Mammadov Ruslan Tavakkul, Rustamov Bayram Nizam, and Rustamova Aysel Bayram		
 Temperature-Properties Relationships of Martensitic Stainless Steel for Improved Utilization in Surgical Too — Ibrar Ahmed, Badar-ud-Din Soomro, Muhammad Irfan, Noor Faraz Khan, Muhammad Bilal Afzal, Junaid Israr, Ambreen Saddozai, and Muhammad Yousif 		
Modeling and Robust Fractional Order Fuzzy Sliding Mode Two Time Scale Controller Design for Synchron Generator of ACP1000 Nuclear Power Plant in LabVIEW — Arshad Habib Malik, Feroza Arshad, and Aftab Ahmad Memon		
An Efficient Class of Repeated Measurements Designs to Control the Residual Effects Using Periods of Three Different Sizes — Javid Shabbir, Hafiz Muhammad Kashif Rasheed, Khadija Noreen, Abid Khan, Muhammad Adnan Ghan and Rashid Ahmed		
Strengthening Pedestrian Safety: An Evaluation of Signals at Major Intersections in Lahore, Pakistan — Hina Saleemi, Zia ur Rehman, Saadia Tabassum, Ammad Hassan Khan, and Abdur Rahim		
 Exploring the Complexities of Urbanization and Socio-Ecological Challenges in the High Mountainous Region of Chitral, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (KPK), Pakistan — Shahab Uddin, Anila Kausar, Sheeba Afsar, Ambreen Afzal, Altaf Hussain Lahori, Olena Stepova, Muhammad Mushahid Anwar, and Viktor Bredun 	ı 47	

Instructions for Authors

PAKISTAN ACADEMY OF SCIENCES, ISLAMABAD, PAKISTAN

Websites: http://www.paspk.org/proceedings/; http://ppaspk.org

HEC Recognized, Category Y; Scopus Indexed